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S.D.N.Y.—N.Y.C.
97-cr-809

16-cv-3622
Chin, J.

United States Court of Appeals
FOR THE

SECOND CIRCUIT 
_________________ 

At a stated term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second 
Circuit, held at the Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, 
in the City of New York, on the 1st day of March, two thousand twenty-two. 

Present: 
John M. Walker, Jr., 
Michael H. Park, 
Myrna Pérez, 

Circuit Judges. 

Eladio Padilla, 

Petitioner-Appellant, 

v. 21-978 

United States of America, 

Respondent-Appellee. 

Appellant moves for a certificate of appealability.  Upon due consideration, it is hereby 
ORDERED that the motion is DENIED and the appeal is DISMISSED because Appellant has not 
“made a substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional right.”  28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(2); see 
also Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 327 (2003). 

FOR THE COURT: 
Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, Clerk of Court 

Case 21-978, Document 45, 03/01/2022, 3269641, Page1 of 1
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    UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE 

SECOND CIRCUIT 
 _____________________________________________ 

At a stated term of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit, held at the 
Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse, 40 Foley Square, in the City of New York, on the 
18th day of May, two thousand twenty-two. 

________________________________________ 

Eladio Padilla, 

Petitioner, 

v. 

United States of America,  

Respondent. 
_______________________________________ 

ORDER 
Docket No: 21-978 

Petitioner, Eladio Padilla, filed a motion for panel reconsideration, or, in the alternative, 
for reconsideration en banc.  The panel that determined the appeal has considered the request for 
reconsideration, and the active members of the Court have considered the request for 
reconsideration en banc. 

               IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the motion is denied. 

FOR THE COURT: 
Catherine O'Hagan Wolfe, Clerk 

Case 21-978, Document 52, 05/18/2022, 3317536, Page1 of 1
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT 
------------------------------------------------------X 
 
ELADIO PADILLA,    : DECLARATION 
 

Petitioner-Appellant,  : 
 

v.     : No. 21-978-pr 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, : 
 
  Respondent-Appellee.  : 
 
------------------------------------------------------X 
 

Edward S. Zas, an attorney duly admitted, declares under 

penalty of perjury pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746: 

1. I am a supervising attorney with the Federal Defenders of 

New York, Inc., Appeals Bureau, counsel to Petitioner-Appellant 

Eladio Padilla. I make this declaration to place before this Court six 

documents relevant to Mr. Padilla’s motion for a certificate of 

appealability or, alternatively, an order holding this appeal in 

abeyance.  

2. Exhibit “A” is a true and correct copy of the district 

court’s memorandum decision and order, entered on March 24, 

2021, denying Petitioner’s amended motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 
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to vacate his conviction and sentence for violating 18 U.S.C. 

§ 924(c).

3. Exhibit “B” is a true and correct copy of Superseding

Indictment No. S3 97 Cr. 809 (DC), filed in the district court on 

March 4, 1998.  

4. Exhibit “C” is a true and correct copy of the plea

agreement between Petitioner and the government, dated 

April 24, 2000.  

5. Exhibit “D” is a true and correct copy of the transcript of

Petitioner’s guilty plea, dated April 24, 2000. 

6. Exhibit “E” is a true and correct copy of Petitioner’s

sentencing, dated August 17, 2000. 

7. Exhibit “F” is a true and correct copy of Petitioner’s

judgment of conviction, dated August 24, 2000. 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and 

correct. 

Executed: May 27, 2021 

______/s/____________ 
Edward S. Zas 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -- - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : 
MEMORANDUM DECISION 

- v -         : 
16 Civ. 3622 (DC) 

ELADIO PADILLA,  : 97 Cr. 809 (DC) 

Defendant. : 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -- - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

APPEARANCES: AUDREY STRAUSS, ESQ. 
United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of New York 

By: Nicholas Folly, Esq. 
Assistant United States Attorney 

One Saint Andrew's Plaza 
New York, NY  10007 

DAVID E. PATTON, ESQ. 
Federal Defenders of New York, Inc. 

By: Edward S. Zas 
Assistant Federal Defender 

52 Duane Street—10th Floor 
New York, New York 10007 

CHIN, Circuit Judge 

On April 24, 2000, defendant Eladio Padilla pled guilty to five counts of 

racketeering.  On August 17, 2000, I sentenced him principally to forty-five years' 

imprisonment.  Now, through counsel, Padilla moves pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 to 

vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence, alleging his conviction and sentence are 

unconstitutional after the Supreme Court's holding in United States v. Davis, 139 S. Ct. 
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2319 (2019), and the Second Circuit's decision in United States v. Barrett, 937 F.3d 126, 

127 (2d Cir. 2019) (hereinafter "Barrett II").  (See Dkt. 97 Cr. 807, No. 123).  For the 

reasons set forth below, his motion is DENIED.  

BACKGROUND 

A. Indictment, Plea, and Sentence 

Padilla and three co-defendants were indicted on March 4, 1998.  (See Dkt. 

No. 126 at 1-2).  Padilla was charged with twenty counts, including:   

(1) engaging in a racketeering enterprise, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 1962(c) (Count One);  
 
(2) participating in a conspiracy to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a/ 
"Amarito," in aid of racketeering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1959(a)(5) (Count Three);  
 
(3) participating in a conspiracy to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a/ 
"Chato," in aid of racketeering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1959(a)(5) (Count Five);  
 
(4) attempting to murder Joseph Grajales, a/k/a "Macho," in 
aid of racketeering, and in aid and abetting the same, in 
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(5) and (2) (Count Ten);  
 
(5) participating in a conspiracy to murder John Santos, a/k/a 
"Teardrop," in aid of racketeering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1959(a)(5) (Count Eleven);   
 
(6) murdering John Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop,"  in aid of 
racketeering in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1959(a)(1) and (2) 
(Count Twelve); and  
 
(7) using and carrying a firearm during and in relation to the 
conspiracy to murder and murder of John Santos, a/k/a 
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"Teardrop," as charged in Act Five of Count One, in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) and (2) (Count Eighteen).  
  

(See Dkt. No. 123, Ex. A ("Indictment") ¶¶ 1-41; Dkt. No. 126 at 2).  Count One alleged 

six racketeering acts, including conspiracy to murder, attempted murder, and murder.  

(See Indictment ¶¶ 7-8, 10-11; see also Dkt. No. 126 at 2-3).  Racketeering Acts One 

through Six of Count One were realleged and incorporated by reference in Counts Five, 

Ten, and Eleven.  (See Indictment ¶¶ 1-4, 7-12, 20-21, 30-33; see also Dkt. No. 126 at 2-3).  

Racketeering Act Five of Count One, referenced in Count Eighteen, alleges both the 

"[c]onspiracy to Murder John Santos" and the "[m]urder of John Santos." (Indictment ¶ 

11a).1  

On April 24, 2000, Padilla pled guilty before Magistrate Judge Frank Maas 

to Counts Three, Five, Ten, Eleven, and Eighteen, listed above.  (Dkt. No. 123 at 2; Dkt. 

No. 126 at 3).  See Padilla v. United States, No. 97 Cr. 809 (DC), 2003 WL 1948799, at *1 

(S.D.N.Y. Apr. 24, 2003).  The language in the Indictment differs slightly from the 

language in the Plea Agreement regarding Count Eighteen.  (See Dkt. No. 126 at 3).  The 

Indictment alleged that Padilla "used and carried a firearm during and in relation to a 

crime of violence . . . to wit, the conspiracy to murder and murder of John Santos, a/k/a 

"Teardrop," as charged in Racketeering Act Five of Count One of the Indictment." 

(Indictment ¶ 41 (emphasis added); Dkt. No. 126 at 3).  The Plea Agreement, however, 

 
1 Both subparagraphs of Paragraph 11 of the Indictment are labeled “a.” but that appears to be an error. 
(See Indictment, Dkt. No. 123, Ex. A ¶ 11). 
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stated only that "Count Eighteen charges the defendant with the use of a firearm during 

a crime of violence, namely, the conspiracy to murder John Santos . . . as charged in 

Count Eleven."  (Dkt. No. 123, Ex. B; see also Dkt. No. 126 at 3).   

On August 17, 2000, I sentenced Padilla principally to a term of ten years' 

imprisonment on each of Counts Three, Five, Ten, and Eleven, to be served 

consecutively.  (Dkt. No. 123, Ex. E; see also Dkt. No. 126 at 6).  For Count Eighteen, I 

sentenced Padilla to the mandatory five-year consecutive sentence.  (Id.).   

B.  Direct Appeal and Post-Appeal Motions 

 Padilla appealed his conviction and sentence to the Second Circuit, which 

affirmed on July 11, 2001.  (See Dkt. No. 126 at 6; Dkt. No. 123 at 4).  See United States v. 

Villanueva, 14 F. App'x 84 (2d Cir. July 11, 2001).  On July 29, 2002, Padilla, proceeding 

pro se, filed a motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255, challenging his conviction and 

sentence.  (Dkt. No. 123 at 5; Dkt. No. 126 at 6).  I denied his motion, finding Padilla's 

ineffective assistance of counsel claims both without merit and barred by the appeal 

waiver he agreed to as part of the Plea Agreement.  See United States v. Padilla, 2003 

WL 1948799 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 24, 2003).  Padilla appealed to the Second Circuit, which 

dismissed the appeal on November 23, 2004. (Dkt. No. 126 at 6; Dkt. No. 87).  On 

December 1, 2006, Padilla moved pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2), arguing that his 

federal sentence should have been imposed concurrently with his state sentence.  (Dkt. 
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No. 94; Dkt. No. 126 at 6; Dkt. No. 92).  I denied his motion without granting leave to 

appeal.  (Dkt. No. 94 ; Dkt. No. 126 at 6).  

On June 26, 2015, the Supreme Court decided Johnson v. United States, 

135 S. Ct. 2551 (2015), holding that the residual clause of the Armed Career Criminal 

Act, 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) (the "ACCA"), is unconstitutionally vague.  The residual clause of 

the ACCA is almost identical to that of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c), upon which Padilla's Count 

Eighteen conviction was based, at least in part.2  On June 13, 2016, within one year of 

Johnson, Padilla sought leave from the Second Circuit to file a second or successive § 

2255 motion.  (Dkt. No. 126 at 6); Padilla v. United States, 2d Cir. No. 16-1871.  The 

Supreme Court then decided Davis, holding, based on Johnson and several textualist 

arguments, that the residual clause of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) was unconstitutionally vague.  

Davis, 139 S. Ct. 2319.  On August 30, 2019, on remand from the Supreme Court, the 

Second Circuit held that conspiracy to commit Hobbs Act robbery was not a crime of 

violence under § 924(c).  See Barrett II, 937 F.3d at 127.  On January 28, 2020, the Second 

Circuit granted Padilla leave to file a § 2255 motion challenging his § 924(c) conviction 

under the Supreme Court's decision in Davis.  (Dkt. No. 126 at 6-7; Dkt. No. 115).   

2 The ACCA defined a "violent felony" as an offense that presented a "serious potential risk of physical 
injury to another."  § 924(e)(2)(B)(ii).  Section 924(b)(3)(B) defined a "crime of violence" as a felony "that by 
its nature, involves a substantial risk that physical force against the person or property of another may be 
used in the course of committing the offense."  § 924(c)(3)(B). 

010a



 - 6 - 

C.  The Instant Motion 

  On June 1, 2020, Padilla filed this amended motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

2255 to vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence.  (Dkt. No. 126 at 7; Dkt. No. 123).  His 

motion alleges that his conviction and sentence are unconstitutional after the Supreme 

Court's holding in Davis and the Second Circuit's holding in Barrett II.  The government 

filed its response on July 29, 2020.  Padilla submitted a reply on September 28, 2020. 

DISCUSSION 

Padilla's motion is denied.  First, his claim is procedurally barred.  Second, 

his argument fails on the merits.   

A. Procedural Bar 

Padilla is procedurally barred from arguing that his § 924(c) conviction is 

unconstitutional because he cannot show actual prejudice. 

 1. Applicable Law 

  A person in federal custody may move to vacate, set aside, or correct his 

sentence "upon the ground that the sentence was imposed in violation of the 

Constitution or laws of the United States . . . or is otherwise subject to collateral attack."  

28 U.S.C. § 2255(a).  Generally, "claims not raised on direct appeal may not be raised on 

collateral review unless the petitioner shows cause and prejudice."  Massaro v. United 

States, 538 U.S. 500, 504 (2003) (citing United States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 167-68 

(1982)).   
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  To show cause, "a defendant must show some objective factor external to 

the defense such that the claim was so novel that its legal basis [was] not reasonably 

available to counsel" at the time of the appeal.  Gupta v. United States, 913 F.3d 81, 84 

(2d Cir. Jan. 11, 2019) (internal quotations and citations omitted).   

  To show prejudice, a defendant must establish that the errors of which he 

complains "worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage," not merely that they 

created a possibility of prejudice.  Frady, 456 U.S. at 170 (emphasis in original).  

Specifically, the defendant must show a "reasonable probability that, but for the error, 

he would not have pleaded guilty."  United States v. Dussard, 967 F.3d 149, 156 (2d Cir. 

2020).  When analyzing prejudice, the court may consider the record as a whole, 

including the Indictment, Plea Agreement, plea colloquy and sentencing proceeding.  

Id.  

 2. Application 

As Davis and Barrett II were decided well after his conviction, Padilla did 

not raise this challenge during the original proceedings.  He thus shows cause for not 

raising the issue, but he fails to show actual prejudice. 

  a. Cause   

  Padilla undoubtedly satisfies the cause prong.  Section 924(c) of Title 18 

criminalizes the use or carrying of a firearm during a "crime of violence."  18 U.S.C. § 

924(c)(1)(A).  The statute defines a "crime of violence" as a felony that either:  
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(A) has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of
physical force against the person or property of another, or

(B) that by its nature, involves a substantial risk that physical force
against the person or property of another may be used in the course
of committing the offense.

18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3).  Subsection (A) is known as the "elements clause" and subsection 

(B) is known as the "residual clause."  The Supreme Court made clear in Davis that the

residual clause of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3) is unconstitutionally vague.  Davis, 139 S. Ct. at 

2324.  Further, after Barrett II, conspiracy to commit Hobbs Act robbery is not a crime of 

violence sufficient to support a conviction under § 924(c).  Accordingly, a predicate 

offense is a "crime of violence" only if it qualifies under the elements clause.   

In 2000, Padilla pled guilty and was sentenced under 18 U.S.C. § 924(c).  

At that time, it was well settled in the Second Circuit that conspiracy qualified as a 

predicate offense to support a § 924(c) conviction, under the residual clause of the 

statute.  See, e.g., United States v. Barrett, 903 F.3d 166, 175 (2d Cir. 2018) ("[I]t has long 

been the law in this circuit that a conspiracy to commit a crime of violence is itself a 

crime of violence under 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3).") (hereinafter Barrett I), abrogated by 

Davis, 139 S. Ct. at 2323-24.  The Government nonetheless argues that the § 924(c)(3)(B) 

void-for-vagueness argument should have been argued at the time of Padilla's direct 
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appeal in 2001.  (Dkt. No. 126 at 17).  This argument is both unpersuasive and contrary 

to Second Circuit case law.3   

  Here, like in Camacho v. United States, "Second Circuit caselaw at the 

time of Petitioner's direct appeal foreclosed his § 924(c) argument, and the Supreme 

Court did not take up or decide Johnson until after Petitioner had filed his direct 

appeal."  Camacho v. United States, 17 Civ. 5199 (AKH),  2019 WL 3838395 at *2 

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 15, 2019).  In fact, the Second Circuit continued to uphold the 

constitutionality of § 924(c)'s residual clause even after Johnson.  See Camacho, 2019 WL 

3838395 at *2 n.2 (citing Barrett I, 903 F.3d at 175).  Had Padilla raised this argument at 

the time of his appeal, it would have been promptly rejected.  Accordingly, it was not 

"reasonably available" to Padilla at the time of his appeal in 2001.  See Gupta, 914 F.3d at 

84.   

  The Supreme Court's decision in Davis is an objective external factor 

sufficient to establish cause for Padilla's failure to raise the residual clause argument on 

direct appeal.  Accordingly, Padilla has shown cause. 

 

 

 
3 The circuit courts are generally in agreement that “no one -- the government, the judge, or the appellant 
-- could reasonably have anticipated Johnson.”  United States v. Redrick, 841 F.3d 478, 480 (D.C. Cir. Nov. 
8, 2016); see also Lassend v. United States, 898 F.3d 115, 122-23 (1st Cir. Aug. 2, 2018); Cross v. United 
States, 892 F.3d 288, 295-96 (7th Cir. June 7, 2018); Ezell v. United States, 743 F. App'x 784, 785 (9th Cir. 
July 30, 2018); United States v. Snyder, 871 F.3d 1122, 1127 (10th Cir. Sept. 21, 2017); Rose v. United States, 
738 F. App'x 617, 628 (11th Cir. June 6, 2018). 
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b. Prejudice

Padilla argues that he satisfies the prejudice prong "because there is at 

least a 'reasonable probability' that, but for the unconstitutional residual clause, he 

would not have pleaded guilty to the § 924(c) count."  (Dkt. No. 123 at 9).  Padilla cannot 

show actual prejudice because a § 924(c) conviction does not require a conviction of the 

predicate offense "so long as there is legally sufficient proof that the predicate crime 

was, in fact, committed."  Johnson v. United States, 779 F.3d 125, 129 (2d Cir. 2015).  

Such proof exists here. 

After Davis, a predicate crime under § 924(c) is a felony that "has as an 

element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force against the person or 

property of another."  18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(A).  Murder in aid of racketeering is a crime 

that has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of physical force 

against the person or property of another.  See N.Y. Penal Law § 125.25 ; 18 U.S.C. § 

1959(a)(1).4  Padilla explained several times, on the record, that he had, in fact, 

murdered John Santos:  

COURT: Moving on to Count 11, which charges you with 
conspiring with others to murder John Santos, also known as 
Teardrop, can you tell me what you did that makes you 
guilty of that crime? 

4 While the Second Circuit has not issued a precedential opinion on this point, it has 
issued several summary orders.  See, e.g., United States v. Sierra, 782 F. App'x 16, 20 (2d 
Cir. 2019); United States v. Herron, 762 F. App'x 25, 33 (2d Cir. 2019); United States v. 
Scott, 681 F. App'x 89, 95 (2d Cir. 2017); United States v. Praddy, 729 F. App'x 21, 24 (2d 
Cir. 2018).   
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PADILLA: Me and others conspired to kill Teardrop.  I 
actually pulled the trigger. 
 
COURT: Did you say "I actually pulled the trigger?" 
 
PADILLA: Yes. 
 

(Dkt. No. 126 at 5; Dkt. No. 123, Ex. C at 21-22).  Padilla elaborated later in the same 

proceeding: 

COURT: Finally, Count 18 charges that during the crime 
charged in Count 11 you used a firearm.  You told me that 
you shot John Santos, is that right? 
 
PADILLA: Yes. 
 
COURT: Was he in fact killed? 
 
PADILLA: Yes. 
 
COURT: What type of weapon did you use? 
 
PADILLA: I can't recall. 
 
COURT: Was it a handgun? 
 
PADILLA: Yes, it was a handgun, yes. 
 

(Dkt. No. 126 at 4-5; Dkt. No. 123, Ex. C at 22-23).  I find that there is legally sufficient 

evidence to show that Padilla, in fact, committed murder in aid of racketeering.  The 

murder of John Santos may thus serve as the predicate offense for the § 924(c) 

conviction; while Padilla did not plead guilty to the crime, he admitted shooting and 

killing Santos.  This analysis does not change, even though the language in the 

016a



 - 12 - 

Indictment differs from the language in the Plea Agreement.  Consequently, Padilla is 

unable to show actual prejudice.  

B. Merits 

  Even assuming Padilla is not procedurally barred, his argument fails on 

the merits.  Padilla argues that his § 924(c) conviction for unlawful use of a firearm 

should be vacated because (1) language in the Plea Agreement takes precedence over 

the language in the Indictment and thus conspiracy was the sole predicate offense 

justifying his § 924(c) conviction; and (2) conspiracy is not a crime of violence sufficient 

to support at § 924(c) conviction, and thus his conviction must be vacated.  For the 

reasons set forth below, these arguments fail. 

 1. Applicable Law 

  As noted above, § 924(c) "does not require the defendant to be convicted 

of (or even charged with) the predicate crime, so long as there is legally sufficient proof 

that the predicate crime was, in fact, committed."  Johnson, 779 F.3d at 129-30; see also 

Dussard, 967 F.3d at 156. 

 2. Application 

  Padilla is correct that conspiracy no longer serves as a predicate offense 

for his § 924(c) conviction.  This development, however, does not justify vacating his 

conviction and sentence for Count Eighteen.  First, Padilla's Count Eighteen conviction 

contains a dual predicate: "the conspiracy to murder and murder of John Santos."  
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Indictment ¶ 41 (emphasis added).  Second, even assuming the Plea Agreement 

somehow amended the Indictment, there is legally sufficient proof in the record to 

show that Padilla in fact committed murder, a predicate offense under § 924(c)(3)(A).  

  Count Eighteen charges Padilla with using a firearm in relation to a crime 

of violence "as charged in Racketeering Act Five of Count One of this Indictment."  As 

noted above, Act Five of Count One alleges both the "[c]onspiracy to Murder John 

Santos," Ex. A ¶ 11a, and the "murder of John Santos." Ex. A ¶ 11a.  Both the Plea 

Agreement and the plea colloquy specifically reference the Indictment.  Indeed, Padilla 

described in his own words how he did, in fact, murder John Santos.  Thus, there is 

legally sufficient evidence to show that Padilla committed murder, a predicate offense 

sufficient to support a § 924(c) charge under the elements clause.  See § 924(c)(3)(A).   

Consequently, I find that Count Eighteen was supported by the predicate of murder.  

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, Padilla has failed to show a basis for relief 

under 28 U.S.C. § 2255.  Accordingly, his petition for relief is denied.  Because he has 

not made a substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional right, I decline to issue 

a certificate of appealability.  See 28 U.S.C. § 2253 (1996) (as amended by the 

Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act).  I certify pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1915(a)(3) that any appeal taken from this order would not be taken in good faith.  The 

Clerk of the Court is respectfully directed to enter judgment, accordingly, and terminate 
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the motion pending at 97 Cr. 809 (DC), document number 123, and 16 Civ. 3622 (DC), 

document number 11, and close the case. 

SO ORDERED. 

Dated:  New York, New York 
March 24, 2021 

____s/DC_____________________ 
DENNY CHIN 
United States Circuit Judge 
Sitting by Designation 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

- V -

ELA.DIC PADILLA, 
a/k/a "Caco," 
a/k/a "D, 11 

ALEX BONILLA, 
a/k/a "0men," 
a/k/a "O," 

DAVID DIAZ, 
a/k/a "Orejas," 
a/k/a "Tito," and 

NATHAN JONES, 
a/k/a "Jay," 

Defendants. 
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RACKETEERING COUNTS 
COUNT ONE 

The Grand -Jury charges: 

The Enterprise 

INDICTMENT 

S3 97 er. 809 (DC) 

1. At all times relevant to this Indictment, in the 

Southern District of New York and elsewhere, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a 

"C_aco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, and others known and unknown, 

were members and associates ·of a criminal organization known as 

Caco's Boys (hereinafter, "Caco•s Boys" or "the enterprise"), whose 

members and associates engaged in murder, robbery, other acts of 

violence and narcotics trafficking. 

2. Caco I s Boys , including its leadership, its 
membership, and its associates, constituted an "enterprise," as 

rlefined by Title 18, United· States Code, Section 1961(4), that is, 

a group of individuals associated in fact, although not a legal 
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entity. At -all times relevant to this Indictment, the enterprise 

operated in the Bronx, New York, among other locations, and was 

engaged in, and its activities affected, interstate commerce and 

foreign commerce. 

objects of the Ente,:prise 
3. Among the objects of the enterprise were the 

following: 

a. Enriching the members of tbe enterprise through 

dealing in cocaine base in a form commo~ly known as _.crack cocaine 

(hereinafter, "crack cocaine") and engaging in robbery. 

b. Augmenting and preserving the financial profits 

of the enterprise by engaging _in acts of violence and intimidation 

against competing drug organizations. 

c. Preserving and protecting the power of the 

enterprise, and its leaders, members and associates, through the 

use of intimidation, threats of violence and violence, ~ncluding 

murder. 

d. Promoting and enhancing the enterpris,e and its 

members' and associates' activities, including tbe distribution of 

crack cocaine. 

Means and Methods of the Entex:prise 
4. Among the means and methods by which the defendant 

and his associates conducted and participated in the conduct of the 

2 
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affairs of the enterprise were the following: 

a. The members and their associates would and did 

conspire to commit, attempt to commit, threaten to commit, and 
== 

commit acts of violence, including murder and robbery. 

b • . The members and their associates would and did 

acquire, possess, carry and use deadly weapons, .including firearms. 

c. The ·members and their associates would and did 

distribute, and possess with intent to distribute, crack cocaine. 

d. The members and their associates --would and did 

-establish, maintain, operate and control various locations where 

quantities of crack cocaine were stored and sold. The enterprise's 

retail distribution locatio~ for crack cocaine included, among 

other places, the vicinity of 578 East 141st Street, Bronx, New 

York. 

Racketeering violation 
5. At various times from in or about October wl993, up 

to and including in or about October 1995, in the Southern District 

of New York and elsewhere, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," 

the defendant, together with others known and unknown, being 

persons employed by and associated with the Caco•s Boys enterprise 

described above, which was engaged in, and the activities ·of which 

affected, interstate and foreign commerce, unlawfully, willfully 

and knowingly conducted and participated, directly and indirectly, .. 
in the conduct of the aff irs of that enterprise, through a pattern 

of racketeering activity, that is, through the commission of the 

following acts of racketeering: 

3 
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Ac~s of Racketeering 
6. The pattern of racketeering activity as defined in 

Titl~ 18, United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and 1961(5), 

consisted of the following acts: 

Act of Racketeering one 
7. ELA.DIC PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the 

defendant, ·committed the following acts, either one cf which 

.. alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act One: 

a. The Conspiracy to Murder Juan Rios, a/k/a 
"Amarito" 

On or about July 17, 1994, in the· Southern District of 

New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, willfu1ly, and 

knowingly conspired to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a "Amarito," in 

violation of New York Penal Law. 

b. The Murder of Jua,n Rios, a/kfa "AJna,rito" 
On or about July 17, 1994, in the Southern District of 

New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, intentionally, and 

knowingly murdered and aided and abetted the murder of Juan Rios, 

a/k/a "Amarito," in violation of New York Penal Law. 

Act of Racketeering Two 
8. ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D, 11 the 

defendant, committed the following acts, any one of which alone ~, 

4 
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constitutes the· commission of Racketee_ring Act Two: 

a. The Conspiracy to Murder Juan Rios, a/k/a 
"Chato" 

In or about July 1994, in the southern District of N~w 

York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "O," the defendant, and 

others known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly . . 
conspired to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a "Chato," in violation of New 

York Penal Law. 

b. The Attempted Murder of Juan Rios. attta "Cha.to" 
On or about July 29, 1994, in the Southern District of 

New York, ELAOIO PADILLA, a/k/a •c~co," a/k/a "D," the de~endant, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, intentionally, and 

knowingly attempted to murder and aided and abetted the attempted 

murder of Juan Rios, a/k/a "Chato," in violation of New York 

Penal Law. 

c. The Murder of Jose Hernandez 
On or about July 29, 1994, in the Southern District of 

New York, ELAOIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, intentionally, and 

knowingly aided and abetted the murder of Jose Hernandez, in 

violation of New York Penal Law. 

Act of Racketeering Three 
9. ELA.DIC PADILI...11., a/k/a 11 Caco," a/k/a "D," the 

defendant, committed the following acts, either one of which 

5 
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alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act Three: 

a. The conspiracy to Rob a Drug Pealer 
In or about August 1994, in the Southern District of 

New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D, 11 the defendant, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly 

conspired to commit an act involving robbery, to wit, ELAOIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," conspired to rob a drug dealer 

in the vicinity of East 141st Street and Beekman Avenue, Bronx, 

New York, in violation of New York Penal Law. 

b. Tbe Robbery of a prng Pealer 
In or about August 1994, in the southern District of 

New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/~/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, 

and others known and -unknown, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly 

committed and aided and abetted the commission of an act 

involving robbery, to wit, ELA.DIC PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a 

"D," robbed a drug dealer in the ·vicinity of East 141st _street 

and Beekman Avenue, Bronx, New York, in violation of New York 

Penal Law. 

Act of ·Racketeering Four: 
The Attempted Murder of Joseph Grajales, a/k/a "Macho," 

a Member of a Riyal Gang Known as the Hit sg;uad 
10. On or about November 23, 1994, in the Southern 

District of New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," 

the defendant, and others known and unknown, unlawfully, 

intentionally, and knowingly attempted to murder and aided and 
. ' 

abetted the attempted murder of Joseph Grajales, a/k/a "Macho," a 
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member of a rival gang known as the Hit Squad, in violation of 

New York Penal Law. 

Act of BAcketeering Five 
11. ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k./a "D," the 

defendant, committed the following acts, either one of which 

alone constitutes the commission of Racketeering Act Five: 

a. Conspiracy to Murder John Santos, a/k/a 
"Teardr~" 

In or about February 1995, in the Southern District of 

New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and 

knowingly conspired to murder John Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop;" in 
. 

violation of New York Penal Law. 

a. The Murder of John santos, AtktA "Teardrop" 
on or about February 26, 1995, in the southern District 

of New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco, 11 a/k/a "D," the 

defendant, and others known and unknown, unlawfully, 

intentionally, and knowingly murdered and aided and abetted the 

murder of John Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop," in violation of New York 

Penal Law. 

Act of Racketeering Six: 
conspiracy to Distribute HArcotics 

12. From in or about October 1993, up to and including 

in or about October 1995, in the Southern District of New York, 

ELA.DIC PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a 11D, the defendant, and others' 

known and unknown, unlawfully, intentionally, and knowingly did 

combine, conspire, confederate and agree together and with each 

7 
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other to violate the narcotics laws of the United States, to wit, 

Title 21, United States Code, Sections 812, 84l(a) (l) and 

841(b) (1) (A), that is, to distribute and possess with intent to 

distribute 50 grams and more of mixtures and substances 

containing a detectable amount of cocaine base, in a form 

commonly known as crack cocaine, in violation of Title 21, United 

States Code, Section 846 • 

. (Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(c).) 

CPIJNT TWO 

The .Grand Jury further charges: 

13. Paragraphs l through 4 and 7 through l2 of Count 

one of this Indictment are r~alleged and incorporated by 

reference as though-fully set forth herein. 

14. From in or about October 1993, up to and including 

in or about October 1995, in the southern District of New York 

and elsewhere, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," :the 

defendant, and others known and unknown, being persons employed 

by and associated with caco's Boys, an enterprise as defined in 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1961(4) and described in 

Paragraphs 1 through 4 of Count One of this Indictment, which 

enterprise was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, 

interstate and foreign commerce, unlawfully, willfully and 

knowingly combined, conspired, confederated and agreed together 

and with each other to violate Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1962(c), that is, to conduct and participate, directly 

and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of that enterprise 

8 
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through a pattern of racketeering activity as defined in Title 

18, United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and (5), to wit, the 

commission of racketeering acts set forth in Paragraphs 7 through 

12 in Count One of this Indictment as Racketeering Acts One 

through Six, which are incorporated by reference as if fully set 

forth he.rein. It was a part of the conspiracy that ELADro · 
PADILLA, the defendant, agreed to the commission of at least two 

acts of racketeering in the conduct of the affairs of ·the 

enterprise. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962(d).) 

YIPLENT CRIME$ IN AIP PF BACDTEE:BING COUNTS 
~PUNT THBEE 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

15. Caco•s Boys, as described in Paragraphs 1 through 4 

of Count One of this I•ndictment, which are realleged and 

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth_ herein, 

constituted an enterprise as that term is defined in Title 18, 

United states Code, Section 1959(b) (2), that is, an association in 

fact of individuals engaged in, and the activities of which 

affected, interstate and foreign commerce. 

16. As set forth in Paragraphs 7 though 12 of ·count One 

of this Indictment, which are realleged and incorporated by 

reference as though fully set forth herein, Caco•s Boys engaged in 

racketeering .activity through its members and associates, as that 

term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 

1959(b) (1) and 1961(1), namely, acts involving murder and robbery, 
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in violation of New York Penal Law, and narcotics trafficking, . in 

violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846. 

11. on or about July 17, 1994, in the Southern District 

of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their positions in 

caco•s Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, and others known 

and unknown, .unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly conspired to · 

murder Juan Rios, a/k/a "Amarito," in violation of New York Penal 

Law. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a) (5).) 

COUNT FOQB 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

18. Paragraphs l through 4 and 7 through 12 of ~cunt One 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of Count Three of tbis 

Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

19. On or about July 17, 1994, in the Southern District 

of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from Caco's Boys, and for the purpose of gaining .. 
entrance to and maintaining and increa ing their positions in' 

Caco•s Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, and others known 

10 
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and unknown, unlawfully, intentionally, and knowingly murdered Juan 

Rios, a/k/a "Amarito," in violation of New York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959(a) (1) and 2.) 

cptJNT FIVE 
The Grand Jury further .charges: 

20. Paragraphs 1 through 4 and 7 through 12 ·of Count One 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of count Three of this 

Indictment, are _realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

21. In or about July 1994, in the Southern District of 

New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as consid~ration 

for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of pecuniary value 

from caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining entrance to and 

maintaining and increasing their posit-ion·s in Caco's Boys, an 

enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a 

"Caco," a/k/a "D, 11 and NATHAN JONES, a/k/a "Jay," the d~fendants, 

and others known and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly 

conspired to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a "Chato," in violation of New 

York Penal Law. 

{Title 18, United States Code, Section l959(a)(S).) 

coUNT srx 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

22. Paragraphs 1 through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count One .. 
of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of count Three of thi~ 

Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

11 
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23. On or about July 29, 1994, in the Southern District 

of New York, as consideration .for the receipt of, and . as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from Caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their positions in 

caco's Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," and NATHAN JONES, a/k/a "Jay," 

the defendants, and others known and unknown, unlawfully, 

intentionally, and knowingly attempted to murder and aided and 

abetted the attempted murder of Juan Rios, a/k/a "Chato," in 

violation of New York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United states ~ode, Sections 1959(a) (5) and 2.) 

COUNT SEVEN 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

24. Paragraphs l through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count one 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of count Thre~ of this 

Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

25. On or about July 29, 1994, in the Southern District 

of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their, positions in 
,. 

Caco•s Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," and NATHAN JONES, a/k/a "Jay," 

the defendants, and others known and unknown, unlawfully, 

12 
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intentionally, and knowingly murdered and aided and abetted the 

murder of Jose Hernandez, in viola~ion of New York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959{a) (1) and 2.) 

COUNT EIGHT 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

26. Paragraphs l through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count One 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of count Three of this 

Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

27. On or about November 21, 1994, in the Southern 

District of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise . and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from caco's Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their positions in 

Caco•s Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a 11Caco," a / k/a "D," and ALEX BONILLA, a/k/~ "0men," 

a /k/ a 110, 11 the defendants, and others known and unknown, 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly conspired to assault with a 
dangerous weapon members of a rival gang known as the Hit Squad, in 

violation of New York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United states Code, Section 1959(a) (6).) 

COUNT NINE 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

i .. 
28. Paragraphs l through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count One 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of Count Three of this 

13 
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Indictment, are realleged .and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

2 9 • on or about November 21, 1994 , in the Southern 

District of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from Caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their positions in 

.. caco•s Boys, an enterprise engaged in .racketeering activity, ELA.DIC 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," and~ BONILLA, a/k/a "Omen,• 

a/k/a "O," the defendants, and others known and unknown, 

unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly assaulted with a dangerous 

weapon members of a rival gang _known as the Hit Squad, in violation 

of New York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959(a) (3) and 2.) 

COUNT TEN 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

30. Paragraphs 1 through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count one 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of Count Three of this 

Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

31. on or about November 23, 1994, in the Southern 

District of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of ~· 
pecuniary value from caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining' 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their positions in 

Caco's Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

14 
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PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, and others known 

and unknown, unlawfully, intention~lly, and knowingly attempted to 

murder and aided and abetted the attempted murder - of Joseph 

Grajales, a/k/a "Macho," in violation of Ne~ York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959(a) (5) and 2.) 

COUNT EL'f:YEN 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

32. Paragraphs l through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count One 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of count-Three of this 

Indictment, are realleged and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

33. In or about Fepruary 1995, in the Southern District 

of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from Caco's Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing their pos~tions in 

Caco's Boys , an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, and others known 

and unknown, unlawfully, willfully, and knowingly conspired to 

murder of John Santos, a / k / a "Teardrop," in violation of New York 

Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a) (5).) 

COUNT TWELVE 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

34. Paragraphs 1 through 4 and 7 through 12 of Count One 

of this Indictment, and Paragraphs 15 and 16 of Count Three of this 

15 
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Indictment, _are reallege~ and incorporated by reference as though 

fully set forth herein. 

35. on or about February 26, 1995, in the southern 

District of New York, as consideration for the receipt of, and as 

consideration for a promise and agreement to pay, anything of 

pecuniary value from Caco•s Boys, and for the purpose of gaining 

entrance to and maintaining and increasing ·their positions in 

caco•s Boys, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity, ELAOIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the defendant, and others known 

and unknown, unlawfully, intentionally, and knowingly murdered John 

Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop," in violation of New York Penal Law. 

(Title 18, United States ~ode, Sections 1959(a) (1) and 2.) 

FIREARM$ OFFENSES 
COUNT THIRTEEN 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

36. on or about July 17, 1994, in the Souther~ 

District of New York, ELA.DID PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," 

the defendant, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly used and 

carried a .firea.rm during and in relation to a crime of violence 

for which he may be prosecuted in a court of the United states, 

to wit, the conspiracy to murder and attempted murder of Juan 

Rios, a/k/a "Amarito," as charged in Racketeering Act One of 

Count One of this Indictment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c) and 2.) 

16 
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CQUNT FOURTEEN 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

37. on o~ about July 29, 1994, in the'· Southern 

District of New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco, " a/k/a "D," 

and NATHAN JONES, a/k/a "Jay,"· the defendants, unlawfUlly, 

willfully and knowingly used and carried a firearm during and in 

relation to a crime of violence for which he may be prosecuted in 

a court pf the United States, to wit, the conspiracy. to murder 

and attempted murder of Juan Rios, a/k/ a ".Cha to, " and murder of 

Jose Hernandez, as charged in Racketeering Act Two of Count One 

of this Indictment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c) and 2.) 

COUNT FIFTEEN 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

38. In or about August 1994, in the Southern District 

of New York , ELA.DIC PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," the 

defendant, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly used and carried a 

fir~arm during and in relation to a crime of violence for which 

he may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, to wit, the 

c onspiracy to commit robbery and robbery of a drug dealer in the 

vici nity of East 141st Street and Beekman Avenue , as charged in 

Racketeering Act Three of Count One of this Indictment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c) and 2.) 

17 
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COUNT SIXTEEN 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

39. on or about November 21, 1994, in the Southern 

District of New York, ELAOIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," 

and ALEX BONILLA, a/k/a 11omen," a/k/a "O," the defendants, 

unlawfully , willfully and knowingly used and carried a firearm 

during and in relation to a crime of violence for which they may 

be prosecuted in a court of the United States, to wit, the 

conspiracy to assault with a dangerous weapon and assault with a 

dangerous weapon of members of a rival gang known as the Hit 

Squad as charged in counts Nine and Ten of thi.s Indictment. 

(Title 18, United Stat~s Code, Sections 924(c) and 2.) 

coUNT -sEVENTEEN 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

40. On or about November 23; 1994, in the Southern 

District of New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," 

the defendant, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly used and 

carried a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence 

for which he may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, 

t o wit, the attempted murder of Joseph Grajales, a/k/a "Macho," 

as charged in Racketeering Act Four of Count One of this 

Indictment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c) and 2.) 

18 
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COUNT EIGHTEEN 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

41. On or about February 26, 1995, in the Southern 

District of New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," 

the defendant, unlawfully, willfu1ly and knowingly used and 

carried a firearm during and in relation to a crime of violence 

for which he may be prosecuted in a court of the United States, 

to wit, the conspiracy to murder and murder of John Santos, a/k/a 

"Teardrop," as charged in Racketeering Act Five of Count One of 

this Indictment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 924(c) and 2 • . ) 

ACCESSORY AFTER THE FACT OFFENSE 
COUNT NINETEEN 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

42. on or about July 17, 1994, in the southern 

District of New York, ALEX BONILLA, a/k/a "Omen," a/k/a ~O," and 

DAVID DIAZ, a/k/a "Orejas," a/k/a "Tito," the defendants, knowing 

that an offense against the United States had been committed, to 

wi~, the conspiracy to murder and murder of Juan Rios, a/k/a 

"Amarito," as charged in Racketeering Act One of Count One of 

this Indictment, unlawfully, willfully and knowingly did receive, 

relieve, comfort and assist the offenders in order to hinder and 

prevent their apprehension, trial and punishment. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Section J.) 

19 



040a

NARCOTICS OFFENSES 
COUNT TWENTY 

The Grand Jury further charges: 

43. From in or about the October 1993, , up to and 

including in or about October 1995, in the Southern District of 

New York, ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D, ALEX BONILI..1\,, 

a/k/a "Omen," a/k/a no," and DAVID DIAZ, a/k/a "Orejas," a/k/a 

"Tito," · the defendants, and others known and unknown, unlawfully, 

intentionally and knowingly did combine, conspire, confederate 

and agree together and with ·each other to violate the narcotics 

laws of the United States. 

44. It was a part _and an object of this conspiracy 

that ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," ALEX BONILLA, a/k/a 

"Omen," a/k/a "O," and DAVID DIAZ, a/k/a "Orejas," a/k/a "Tito," 

the defendants, and others known and unknown, would and did 

distribute and possess with intent to distribute 50 grams and 

more of mixtures and substances containing a detectable amount of 

cocaine base, in a form commonly known as crack cocaine, in 

violation of Sections 812, 84l(a) (l) and 84l(b) (1) (A) of Title 

21, United States Code. 

OVERT ACTS 

-45. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect its 

illegal objects, the follow'ing overt acts, among others, were 

committed in the Southerrr District of New York: 

a . At various times from in or about the Spring 

of 1994, through on or about September 29, 1995, ELADIO PADILLA, 
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a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D, and ALEX BONILLA, a/k/a "Omen," a/k/a 

"D," stored crack cocaine in an apartment located at 328 Beekman 

Avenue, # 1-I, Bronx, New York. 

b. .on or about July 17, 1994 , i ·n an apartment 

located at 328 Beekman Avenue, # 1-I, Bronx, New York, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," murdered Juan Rios, a/k/a "Amari to. •i 

c. on or about July 17, 1994, in an apartment 

located at 328 Beekman Avenue,# 1-I, Bronx, New York, ALEX 

BONILLA, a/k/a "Omen," and DAVID DIAZ, a/k/a "Orejas," a/k/a 

"Tito," assisted ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," in disposing of 

the murdered body of Juan Rios, a/k/a "Amarito." 

d. On or about July 29, 1994, ELADIO PADILLA, 

a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "O," aided and abetted the attempted murder 

of Juan Rios, a/k/a "Chato." 

e. In or about August 1994, ELADIO PADILLA, 

a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," robbed a drug dealer in the vicinity of 

East 141st Street and Beekman Avenue, Bronx, New York. 

f. on or about November 21, 1994, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," and ALEX BONILLA, a/k/a "Omen," 

a/k/a "O," engaged in a shootout with a rival gang known as the 

Hit Squad. 

g. On or about November 23, 1994, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," attempted to murder Joseph 

Grajales, a/k/a "Macho," a member of a rival gang known as the 

Hit Squad. 
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h. on or .about February 26, 1995, ELADIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," murdered John Santos, a/k/a 

"Teardrop." 

i . On or about April 3, 1995, Ai.EX BONILLA, 

a/k/a "Omen," a/k/a "O," made a false statement to a New York 

City Police detective investigating the murder of John Santos, 

a/k/a "Teardrop." 

j. On or about August 26, 1995, ALEX BONILLA, 

a/k/a "Omen," a/k/a "O," provided a sam_ple of crack -cocaine to an 

undercover officer. 

k. on or about September 19, 1995, ELAOIO 

PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a ~D," negotiated to sell 3500 vials 

of crack cocaine to an undercover officer. 

l. On or about September 20, 1995, ALEX BONILLA, 

a/k/a "Omen," a/k/a "O," possessed approximately 2831 vials of 

crack cocaine. 

(Title 21, United States Code, Section 846.) 

COUNT TWENTY-ONE 
The Grand Jury further charges: 

46. From in or about the Spring of 1994, through on or 

about September 29, 1995, in the Southern District of New York, 

ELADIO PADILLA, a/k/a "Caco," a/k/a "D," and ALEX BONILLA, a/k/a 

"Omen," a/k/a "O," the defendants, unlawfully, intentionally and 

knowingly did open and maintain a place for the purpose of 

manufacturing, distributing and using controlled substances, to 

wit, the defendants maintained a room in an apartment located at 
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328 Beekman Avenue, # 1-I, Bronx, New -York, to manufacture and 

distribute cocaine base, commonly known AS crack cocaine. 

(Titl.,! 21, United States Code, Section 856; Title 18, United 
States Code, Section 2.) 

FOREPERSON 
Attorney 
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U.S. Department of Justice 

United States Attorney 
Southern District of New York 

The Silvio J. Mollo Building 
One Saini Andrew's l'luza 
New York, New York 10007 

April 24, 2000 

Bobbi C. Sternheim, Esq. 
Rochman, Platzer, Fallick & Sternheim 
666 Third Avenue 
New York, New York 10017 

Re: United States v. Eladio Padilla 
S3 97 Cr. 809 (DC) 

Dear Ms. Sternheim: 

On the understandings specified below, the Office of 
the United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York 
("this Office"} will accept a guilty plea from Eladio Padilla 
("the defendant 11 ) to Counts Three, Five, Ten, Eleven, and 
Eighteen of the above-referenced Indictment. 

08/09199 

Count Three charges the defendant with conspiracy to murder 
Juan Rios, a/k/a "Amarito," in violation of Title 18, United 
States Code, Section 1959(a) (5). Count Three carries a 
maximum sentence of 10 years' imprisonment; a maximum term 
of 3 years' supervised release; a maximum fine, pursuant to 
Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571, of the greatest 
of $250,000, twice the gross pecuniary gain derived· from the 
offense, or twice the gross pecuniary loss to persons other 
than the defendant resulting from the offense; and a 
mandatory $50 special assessment. Full restitution, 
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 3663 and 
3664, may also be ordered. 

Count Five charges the defendant with conspiracy to murder 
Juan Rios, Jr., a/k/a "Chato, 11 in violation of Title 18, 
United States Code, Section 1959 (a) (5). Count Five carries 
a maximum sentence of 10 years' imprisonment; a maximum term 
of 3 years' supervised release; a maximum fine, pursuant to 
Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571, of the greatest 
of $250,000, twice the gross pecuniary gain derived from the 
offense, or twice the gross pecuniary loss to persons other 
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than the defendant resulting from the offense; and a 
mandatory $50 special assessment. Full restitution, 
pursuant to Title l8, United States Code, Sections 3663 and 
3664, may also be ordered. 

Count Ten charges the defendant with the attempted murder of 
Joseph Grajales, a/k/a 11 Macho," in violation of Title 18, 
United States Code, Sections l959(a) (5) and 2. Count Ten 
carries a maximum sentence of 10 years' imprisonment; a 
maximum term of 3 years' supervised release; a maximum fine, 
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571, of 
the greatest of $250,000, twice the gross pecuniary gain 
derived from the offense, or twice the gross pecuniary loss 
to persons other than the defendant resulting from the 
offense; and a mandatory $50 special assessment. Full 
restitution, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 
Sections 3663 and 3664, may also be ordered. 

Count Eleven charges the defendant with conspiracy to murder 
John Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop," in violation of Title 18, 
United States Code, Section 1959(a) (S). Count Eleven 
carries a maximum sentence of 10 years' imprisonment; a 
maximum term of 3 years' supervised release; a maximum fine, 
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571, of 
the greatest of $250,000, twice the gross pecuniary gain 
derived from the offense, or twice the gross pecuniary loss 
to persons other than the defendant resulting from the 
offense; and a mandatory $50 special assessment. Full 
restitution, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, 
Sections 3663 and 3664, may also be ordered. 

Count Eighteen charges the defendant with use of a firearm 
during a crime of violence, namely, the conspiracy to murder 
John Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop," as charged in Count Eleven, 
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Seccion 
924(c). Count Eighteen carries a mandatory term of five 
years' imprisonment, which must run consecutive to any other 
term of imprisonment; a maximum term of 3 years' supervised 
release; a maximum fine, pursuant to Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 3571, of the greater of $250,000 or twice the 
gross pecuniary gain derived from the offense; and a 
mandatory $50 special assessment. 

The defendant's total maximum term of incarceration on 
Counts Three, Five, Ten, Eleven and Eighteen is 45 years' 
imprisonment. 

In consideration of his plea to the above offense, the 
defendant will not be further prosecuted criminally by this 
Office (except for criminal tax violations as to which this 
Office cannot, and does not, make any agreement) for conduct 
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char-ged in Indictment S3 97 Cr. 809 (DC) _ In addition, at the 
time of sentencing, the Government will move to dismiss any open 
Counts against the defendant. The defendant agrees that with 
respect to any and all dismissed charges he is not a "prevailing 
party'1 within the meaning of the nHyde Amendment, 11 Section 617, 
P.L. 105-119 (Nov. 26, 1997), and will not file any claim under 
that law. 

In consideration of the foregoing and pursuant to 
Sentencing Guidelines§ 6B1.4 (as in effect on November 1, 1998), 
the parties hereby stipulate to the following: 

UN/0919'1 

A. Offense Level 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

Because upon pleading guilty, the defendant will 
have been convicted on more than one count, 
Sentencing Guidelines§ 3D1.1 is applicable to 
Counts Three, Five, Ten, Eleven, and Eighteen. 
Since Counts Three, Five, Ten, and Eleven involve 
different victims, each count is considered a 
separate group. Count Eighteen is excluded from 
the application of the grouping analysis, pursuant 
to Sentencing Guidelines§ 3Dl.l(b). 

Group I. With respect to Count Three, because the 
conspiracy to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a 11 Amarito," 
resulted in his death, Sentencing Guidelines§ 
2Al.l is applicable, and the defendant's base 
offense level is 43. U.S.S.G. §§ 2El.3 (a} (2), 
2Al. 5 (c) ( 1) and 2Al. l. 

Group II. With respect to Count Five, because the 
conspiracy to murder Juan Rios, Jr., a/k/a 
"Chato," resulted in the death of Jose Hernandez, 
Sentencing Guidelines§ 2Al.1 is applicable, and 
the defendant's base offense level is 43. 
U . S . S . G. § § 2 E 1 . 3 (a) ( 2) , 2Al . 5 ( c) ( 1) and 2Al . 1 . 

Grouo III. With respect to Count Ten, because the 
object of the offense would have constituted first 
degree murder, the defendant's base offense level 
is 28. U.S.S.G. §§ 2El.3(a) (2) and 2A2.l(a) (1). 
Because the victim sustained serious bodily 
injury, the base level is increased by 2 levels. 
U.S.S.G. § 2A2.l(b) (1) (B). In addition, because 
the offense involved the offer or receipt of a 
thing of pecuniary value for undertaking the 
murder, the base offense level is increased by 4 
levels. U.S.S.G. § 2A2.l(b) (2). Based on the 
above, the defendant's adjusted offense level, 
with respect to Group III, is 34. 

3 
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5. Group IV. With respect to Count Eleven, because 
the conspiracy to murder John Santos, a/k/a 
"Teardrop," resulted in his death, Sentencing 
Guidelines§ 2Al.l is applicable, and the 
defendant's base offense level is 43. U.S.S.G. §§ 
2El . 3 (a) ( 2) , 2Al . 5 ( c) ( 1) and 2Al . 1 . 

6. Under the applicable grouping provisions of the 
Sentencing Guidelines, Groups One, Two, and Four 
each count as one unit, and Group Three counts as 
zero units. U.S.S.G. §§ 3D1.4(a) and (c). The 
resulting total is 3 units. Pursuant to 
Sentencing Guidelines§ 3D1.4, there is a 3-level 
increase in the defendant's offense level, 
resulting in an adjusted offense level of 46, 

7. Assuming the defendant pleads guilty and allocutes 
to the satisfaction of the Court on or before 
April 28, 2000, he will have demonstrated a 
recognition and an affirmation of personal 
responsibility for his criminal conduct, and will 
have thereby enabled the Government to avoid 
preparing for trial against him and the Court to 
allocate its resources efficiently, resulting in a 
3-level decrease in the offense level pursuant to 
Sentencing Guidelines§§ 3El.l(a) and 
3El.l(b} (2) . 1 

8. In accordance with the above, the resulting 
applicable Guidelines offense level is 43. 

9. Additionally, in light of the defendant's plea of 
guilty to Count Eighteen, i.e., a violation of 18 
U.S.C. § 924(c), the Court must impose a mandatory 
5 year term of imprisonment to run consecutive to 
any other term of imprisonment. U.S.S.G. §§ 
2K2.4(a) and 5Gl.2(a) 

B. Criminal History Category 

Based upon the information now available to this Office 

The defendant agrees to allocute that: i) the 
conspiracy to murder Juan Rios, a/k/a "Amarito," as charged in 
Count Three, resulted in the shooting and dismemberment of the 
victim; ii) the conspiracy to murder Juan Rios, Jr., a/k/a 
"Chato," as charged in Count Five, resulted in the shooting death 
of a bystander, Jose Hernandez; and iii) the conspiracy to murder 
John Santos, a/k/a "Teardrop," as charged in Count Eleven, 
resulted in the shooting death of the victim. 
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(including representations by the defense), the defendant has the 
following criminal history. 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4 . 

5. 

ORIU9.'99 

On or about June 1, 1989, the defendant was 
convicted upon a plea of guilty, in Supreme Court, 
Bronx, New York, of assault with intent to cause 
serious injury with a weapon, in violation of New 
York Penal Law§ 120.10, for which he received a 
sentence of 2 to 6 years' imprisonment. Pursuant 
to Sentencing Guidelines§ 4Al.l(a), 3 criminal 
history points are assessed against the defendant 
in determining his criminal history. 

On or about May 20, 1996, the defendant was 
convicted upon a plea of guilty, in Supreme Court, 
Bronx, New York, of criminal possession of a 
weapon, in violation of New York Penal Law§ 
265.02, for which he received a sentence of 30 
months' to 5 years' imprisonment. Pursuant to 
Sentencing Guidelines§ 4Al.l(a), 3 criminal 
history points are assessed against the defendant 
in determining his criminal history. 

On or about May 20, 1996, the defendant was 
convicted upon a plea of guilty, in Supreme Court, 
Bronx, New York, of criminal sale of a controlled 
substance, in violation of New York Penal Law§ 
220.41, for which he received a sentence of 54 
months' to 9 years' imprisonment. Pursuant to 
Sentencing Guidelines§ 4Al.l(a), 3 criminal 
history points are assessed against the defendant 
in determining his criminal history. 

Because the defendant committed the instant 
offenses while under a criminal justice sentence, 
namely, the parole resulting from his June 1, 1989 
conviction, and less than two years after his 
release for that conviction, 3 criminal history 
points are assessed against the defendant in 
determining his criminal history. U.S.S.G. § 
4Al.l(d) and (e). 

In accordance with the above, the defendant has a 
total of 12 criminal history points and the 
defendant's Criminal History Category is V. 
Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 4Bl.l, because the instant 
offenses include a felony that is a crime of 
violence, and the defendant has two prior felony 
convictions involving either a crime of violence 
or narcotics trafficking, namely, his June 1, 1989 
assault conviction and his May 20, 1996 narcotics 
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conviction, he is a career offender, and his 
criminal history category is VI. 

C. Sentencing Range 

Based on the calculations set forth above, the 
defendant's Guidelines sentence is life imprisonment. However, 
since the statutory maximum term of incarceration for the 
offenses to which the defendant will plead guilty is 45 years' 
{540 months 1 ) imprisonment, the defendant's stipulated Guidelines 
range is 45 years' imprisonment. U.S.S.G. §§ 5Gl.l(a) and 
5Gl.2(d). The defendant reserves his right to request that the 
Court impose this sentence to run concurrently with his state 
sentence. In addition, the defendant intends to ask the Court to 
recommend to the Bureau of Prisons that he receive credit on his 
sentence from October 29, 1997, the date he was brought into 
federal custody. The Government will take no position with 
regard to whether the defendant's sentence should run 
concurrently or to the request that the Court recommend to the 
Bureau of Prisons that the defendant receive credit from October 
29, 1997. The Government leaves these determinations to the 
discretion of the Court. 

The parties agree that neither a downward nor an upward 
departure from the Guidelines range set forth above is warranted. 
Accordingly, neither party will seek such a departure or seek any 
adjustment not set forth herein. Nor will either party suggest 
that the Probation Department consider such a departure or 
adjustment, or suggest that the Court™ sponte consider such a 
departure or adjustment. 

Except as provided in any written Proffer Agreement(s) 
that may have been entered into between this Office and the 
defendant, nothing in this agreement limits the right of the 
parties (i) to present to the Probation Department or the Court 
any facts relevant to sentencing; (ii) to make any arguments 
regarding where within the Guidelines range set forth above (or 
such other range as the Court may determine) the defendant should 
be sentenced; (iii) to seek an appropriately adjusted Guidelines 
range if it is determined based upon new information that the 
defendant's criminal history category is different from that set 
forth above. Nothing in this agreement limits the right of the 
Government to seek denial of the adjustment for acceptance of 
responsibility,~ U.S.S.G. § 3El.l, and/or imposition of an 
adjustment for obstruction of justice, see U.S.S.G. § 3Cl.1, 
regardless of any stipulation set forth above, should it be 
determined that the defendant has either (i) engaged in conduct, 
unknown to the Government at the time of the signing of this 
Agreement, that constitutes obstruction of justice or (ii) 
committed another crime after signing this agreement. 
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It is understood that pursuant to Sentencing Guidelines 
§ 6Bl.4(d), neither the Probation Department nor the Court is 
bound by the above Guidelines stipulation, either as to questions 
of fact or as to the determination of the proper Guidelines to 
apply to the facts. In the event that the Probation Department 
or the Court contemplates any Guidelines adjustments, departures, 
or calculations different from those stipulated to above, the 
parties reserve the right to answer any inquiries and to make all 
appropriate arguments concerning the same. 

It is understood that the sentence to be imposed upon 
the defendant is determined solely by the Court, though in no 
event may the Court impose a sentence greater than the total 
statutory maximum sentence of 45 years' imprisonment. This 
Office cannot, and does not, make any promise or representation 
as to what sentence the defendant will receive. Moreover, it is 
understood that the defendant will have no right to withdraw his 
plea of guilty should the sentence imposed by the Court be 
outside the stipulated Guidelines range set forth above. 

It is further agreed (i) that the defendant will 
neither appeal, nor otherwise litigate under Title 28, United 
States Code, Section 2255, any sentence of 45 years or less and 
(ii} that the Government will not appeal a sentence of 45 years. 
This provision is binding on the parties even if the Court 
employs a Guidelines analysis different from that stipulated to 
herein. Furthermore, it is agreed that any appeal as to the 
defendant 1 s sentence that is not foreclosed by this provision 
will be limited to that portion of the sentencing calculation 
that is inconsistent with (or not addressed by) the above 
stipulation. 

The defendant hereby acknowledges that he has accepted 
this plea Agreement and decided to plead guilty because he is in 
fact guilty. By entering this plea of guilty, the defendant 
waives any and all right to withdraw his plea or to attack his 
conviction, either on appeal or collaterally, on the ground that 
the Government has failed to produce any discovery material, 
Jencks Act material, exculpatory material pursuant to Brady v. 
Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and impeachment material pursuant 
to Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972) that has not 
already been produced as of the date of the signing of this 
Agreement. 

It is further agreed that should the conviction 
following the defendant's plea of guilty pursuant to this 
Agreement be vacated for any reason, then any prosecution that is 
not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the 
date of the signing of this agreement (including any counts that 
the Government has agreed to dismiss at sentencing pursuant to 
this Agreement) may be commenced or reinstated against the 
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defendant, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of 
limitations between the signing of this Agreement and the 
commencement or reinstatement of such prosecution. It is the 
intent of this Agreement to waive all defenses based on the 
statute of limitations with respect to any prosecution that is 
not time-barred on the date that this Agreement is signed. 

The parties understand that this Agreement reflects the 
special facts of this case and is not intended as precedent for 
other cases. 

It is further understood that this Agreement does not 
bind any federal, state, or local prosecuting authority other 
than this Office. 

8 



053a

,I 

.r 

Apart from any written Proffer Agreement(s) that may 
have been entered into between this Office and the defendant, 
this Agreement supersedes any prior understandings, promises, or 
conditions between this Office and the defendant. No additional 
understandings, promises, or conditions have been entered into 
other than those set forth in this Agreement, and none will be 
entered into unless in writing and signed by all parties. 

AGREED AND CONSENTED TO: 

08/09/IIQ 

Very truly yours, 

MARY JO WHITE 
United States Attorney 

'7 / 
/J I 

BY : ---<-f_ iu/ :1:V11 i t/ l.'7 c -==::::::::::: 
I. Bennett Capers 
Assistant United States Attorney 
(212) 637-2263 

APPROVED : 

Vernon S . Broderick 
Chief, Violent Gangs Unit 

cJv 
DATE · 

DATE 
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UNITED STATE DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NE\.>/ YORK 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x 

ELADIO PADILLA , 

De f nda nt. 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - x 

Before: 

! ION. fo'RANK MAA.:>, 

APPEARANCES 

MARY JO WHITE 
United States Attorney for the 
Sou thern District of Ne w York 

BY: BENNETT CAPERS 
Assistant Un ited States Attorney 

BOBBI C. STERNHEIM 
Attorney for defendant 

S3 97 Cr. 809 DC/FM 

N w York , N.Y . 
.l\pril 2 4, 2000 
4:05 p . m. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS ( 2 1 2 ) 805 - 0300 

-----------------------------------------1,,,'_,M~.r .,,,,...,,,,. 
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'c l l d) 

M . STERN II ET.M: Jug , my I h nd up h cons nr L 

pro e d? 

THE COURT: Pl as . 

MS. STERNI IEIM: l\n h e e is C C E y the g IO 11 

th t h be n fully x lt d' 

T ll E' OURT: Is i . h m G th o n h Wt:. S 

f u r ni. h d 0 me t h t h r d y? 

MR. CAPER r · is n . , Ju Tll 1· L, j If) 11 

nd th . pp C 8 n p e g Pc; C jus t h l d n J ut1 rJv , 

in th first full p graph h s b nm d ' f ' d . 

THE COURT: Wh t w s h 

ddi ion 1 langu ge? 

h ng I s Th r• i r; 

MR. CAPER ·: Th r was n issue wi hr s p wll •11 

the 45-year s ntence would begin. 

TIIE COURT: I see. Th v rsion whi h I m di s ·c din 

said it would be consecutive a nd this version says th 

government takes no po ition as to that issue. orre ? 

MR. CAPERS.: That's it in nutsh 11, Judge . 

THE COURT: Mr. P dilla , my n me is Judge Ma s. Th 

indictment in this case , whi c h is a third superseding 

indictme nt , c harges you in number of o un ts with av ri ty 

of crim s. As I und rs nd it , tod y you re offering to 

pl e d guilty to Counts 3, 5 , 10 , 11 and 18 of that super e 1n 

indi tme nt . 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805 - 0300 
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Is ht orr t , Mi ss S ernheim? 

MS. ST ERNJI EIM: Th i s cor1 c t . 

th 

TII E COURT: In hos c oun s , you w r c h rg e d wi h 

im s of con spi acy o murde r sev r l individuals , wi h 

t h crim of c t mp d murd r of n i.n ividu 1 , nd wi Lh h 

crime o u s ing fir rm du ing a c i m of viol nee , wh ich i s 

he con s pir c y t mu· d r ,John St n os. 

Wi hr s p ct o ch of those c h r s , si , you h v 

the righ to a jury rial , nd , if you w ound g uilty , o 

be sent n c db for 

und rst nd th t? 

Uni 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes. 

St t s dis ict 7ud Do y ou 

THE COURT: I unde rstand that n o wi hs nding h 

right you wish to plead guilty to the count s tha I me n ion d 

previously before me this afternoon ; is that correct? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT : Did you execute a con sent to proceed 

before a United States magistrate judge on a felony pl ea 

allocution earlier today? 

Tl! E DEFENDANT : Yes. 

THE COURT: Did your attorn y Miss Sternheim also 

sign t hat document? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes . 

THE COURT: Did you rea d the cons e nt form before you 

signed it? 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805 - 0300 
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T IIE DEFENIJ/\N'l' : y s. 

T ll · OURT: r 1 m j lg 0 ll cl L sk you sorn 

qu . 011 8 this Cf t n on , 80 1 t rn ,.10 k you E i. t" B L t o ra i. s 

yo 1r- i ht h nd - - C 8 b 8 you C n . I gu !:JS w will l i. sp (• 
,J 

of hat , giv n th f · h e you arc h nd ·u f f 

i ' do y u so l mnly S W r Lh, t C 11 0 h 

nform ion you g ing 0 ive rn hi s f . noon i n 

respons to my questions wi.11 b ru , nd corr I so h l p y )LI 

God? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Would you tell me first your full name. 

Eladia Padilla , Jr. 

Mr. Padilla, how old re you, sir? 

Twenty-nine. 

How far did you go in school? 

Ninth grade. 

Are you currently or have you recently been under th c r e 

of either a doctor or a psychiatrist for any reason? 

A No. 

Q Are you currently t king medication of any sort? 

A No. 

Q Have you ever been tr t e d for eith r alcoholism or drug 

add i ction? 

A No. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805 - 0300 
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Q A .;; y u it b f r rn dc.1y , cl you f c 1 OK? 

A y 

Q Do y u huve ny oubl md s -a ndin he ques ions I C rn 

ask 'ng y u? 

A N 

Q J\m I corr ct h you llcv C Lved C. copy of ' hi s -hi td 

s up s d.i.n indi t n1 n · ? 

A y s . 

Q Wi t h r Sp ·t t t]1e (; un t s o [ Lh t lndi.·· IO ' llt as L w!ii_ ·l 

you pl ding g u i l ty, o pr p sL n<J p l "acl <Ju i l y , Jo yo 11 

wish me re d th t x L [ rhos C'oun ts t y u? 

A Yes. 

My l awy r d he m torn - 1 y. 

Q Eve n though you have r d th rn , the qu s ti on I um c.., kin J 

is, do you want me to r d thos portions of h indictrn n 

you or will you waive that reading? 

A I waive that. 

Q Do you understand what it is t h t the indictm nt c h rg s 

you did in those counts of th indictment ? 

A Yes. 

Q Have you had adequat time tot lk with Ms . Sternh eim 

about those charges? 

A 

Q 

A 

Yes. 

And bout how you wish to ple d wi hr spect to them? 

Yes. 

SOUTH ERN DISTRI CT REPORTERS (212) 805 - 0 30 0 
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Q 

h s 

A 

Q 

3 I 

A 

Q 

A 

Ai: y ll a ti fi l with Lh r 

iv n t: y u c nd h c dv LC 

Y - s. 

At t h s i rn Cr y ll r 

5 , 10 , 11 e nd 18 [ ·h 

y s. 

Wh - i your pl , .·ir? 

Gu i lty. 

tcly 

-h'rd 

pr e n a - ion Mi ss S t rnh 

s h hes C i V 11 0 you? 

pl ecd wi h r s ec -o 

S U rs din indictmen ? 

Q Ev I thoug h y u h e V " t l cl Ill yo u 1.· qu_i lt y hou 

im 

o un 

coun ts , it is my job t rn c k s u ha you1· pJ ,c1 o qui lLy in 

bein m de volunt rily c..nd thc t you f 11J y und 1s t c nl IP 

c h rg s gain t you a nd t h e possibl e ons~ 1u n c s your 

pl a. So I will b sking you som a ddi ional ques ions. 

Fi rst , do you und rs ncl h t i n ·c unt J you "' r 

charged wit h p articip ting in a conspir c y o mur r Jun 

Rios, a l so knO\•m as Amarito , in viol tion of Ti le 18 Uni d 

States Code , section 19 59 ? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Do you unders t a nd thc t thc t count n : i s with i 

maximum sent e n ce of 1 0 yecrs ' irnprisonrn nt , am ximum term of 

thre years ' s upervised r l e se , a m ximum fine pursuant to 

Title 18 United St ts Cod , sec tion 3S7 1, o f t h gr t st of 

$250,00 0 or twice he amo 1nt of mo n y the - you derived from 

th off ns e or twice th amount of loss t h was ca used o 

per ons oth r h n yo u s a r ult f th offen s , swell a 

SOUTHERN DI TRICT REPORTERS (212) 805-0 300 
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mandGtory s p ial ssessm nt a nd full rs i u ion p l s un -

to Titl 18 W ited St - t es Code sec ions 366 nd 3664? 

A 

Q 

Ye s. 

D you unde s t n 1 - 11 t Coun r: c l rges you with 

p ar ticip ting i n a con spir c y to murd r Juan Rios, Jr. , 

known as Ch c tto , in viola ion o( t h L s m st u e? 

A Yes. 

l so 

Q Do you understand t h t h pen 1 is for h c irn chd g d 

i n Coun t 5 are t h e same as th pen 1 is (o tlal crim 

c ha rge d i n Coun t 3? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Do you und rst nd t h ' un t 10 c: ltarg s you with h 

a tt e mpted murder of Jos ph Grajales , l so known s M cho , 

which is a violation of se tio n s 1959 {a) ( 5 ) nd 2 of Title 18 · 

Unit e d States Code? 

A Yes . 

Q Do you understand tha t that count carries a maximum 

sent ence of 10 years ' impri sonment , a maximum te m of three 

years ' supervised release , a maximum fi n e purs uant to Titl e 18 

Unit ed States Code , section 3571 , of t h e greatest of $250 , 000 

or twice the a mo unt of mon y that you der ive d from the offense 

or twice the a mo un t of loss tha t you cau sed to persons other 

tha n yours e lf as a resul t of the offense , as we ll as a 

mandatory $50 special assessme nt , a nd that f u ll restitution 

pursuant to Tit l e 18 Unit e d S t tes Code , sections 366 3 and 

SOUTHERN DI STRI CT REPORTERS ( 212 ) 805-0300 
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3 4, may l so e o e r d? 

A Yes. 

Q Turning to Count 11, lo yo u unders nd the t you we e 

c h rg in that coun t wiLh conspirin with o hers to mu er 

John s ntos , l so known as T rdrop , i n V iolc ion oE Ti.tl 18 , 

Unit d St es od I s C ion 1959( ) ( 5)? 

A y s . 

Q Do you unders t nd h t h count c;ar.r.i s wi h i a 

m ximum sentenc of 10 ye rs ' i mpri sonm n I C m xirnurn t m o ( 

three ye rs ' sup rvis d r 1 se , rn ximurn fin pursu,nl o 

Title 18 Unit d States Cod, section 3571 , o ·h s o[ 

$250 , 000 or twice t he a mount of many t hat you d riv·d rom 

the offense or twi ce the mount of los that you cause t 

person s oth er than yourself as a r sult of h o ff e n s , nd 

mandatory $50 special assessment? 

A Yes. 

Q Do you also understand that the court may order full 

restitution pursuant to titl e 18 Unit ed States Code sections 

3663 a nd 3664? 

A Yes. 

Q Finally, wi h respect to Count 18 , do you understand that 

you were c harged in that coun t with the use of a firearm 

during a cri me of viol e nc e , tha t crime being participating in 

the conspiracy to murder John Santo , also known as Te rdrop, 

as c harged in Count 11 of ·he indictment , and that that is a 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805 - 0300 
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vio l atj 11 r - i 1 18 Uni I .'Jt ,- - s C:od0 sec ion 924( ·)? 

T\. Yes. 

Q Doy u und rs - nd ·h Counl 18 Cc. rri s wi h iL , 

m nd tory - m of (iv y rs imp i sonrn n ,..,hich must run 

con s c u tiv to any oth rte m of imprioonrn n h he 

ric - ju g m y im os , c.. s w 11 , s c m xi mum 1m f il e 

rn c xirnum fLn" pu SUdn o TlL L ye rs ' s upervised rele se , 

Unit d S t es Co , s ction 71 , of the 91 a lo s2co , ooo 

or wic t h mou n of 1110n y th t vi s (1 , i_ i_v c• d i1 111 · h • 

off nse, nd C ma ndatory $CO s c.i. c 1 cW .S SS 111 P l1L ? 

Yes . 

18 

A 

Q Do you underst nd th t by pl eading 9 u il y Lo th "DC: · unt r; 

you would b e expo sing yourse l f to 

imprisonment of 4 5 years in j a il ? 

A Yes. 

m ximum rm f 

Q With respec t to t h e t r ms of sup rvis d re l e se th I 

described earl i er , do y ou understand that if you are pl ced o n 

s upervised re l e se a nd the n vio l at any term or condition of 

that s upervised re l ease , the court could r voke your term of 

supervised re l ease and require you to serve in prison 11 or 

part of the thre - year term of s up rvis d r 1 se au horiz d 

by s t atut e , without a ny er dit £or tim ~ previous l y served on 

post release s upervis ion? 

A Yes . 

THE COURT: I would s k t h t t h gov rnm nt with 

SOUTHE RN DISTRICT REPORTER ( 212) 80 - 0300 
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I . ri pt ' 

LIH ·1im 

MR. APERS: ,Tlll'J , dr you rl !i kill<J (n1 l}H' 1 ., ·tu,tl 

s i s o wh tht,;: 1 ·mt>nU; of · ch 

THE COURT: Th 

MR. APERS: With re s pe c t 0 Coun ,. .., 3, ', , c1 ncl l 1 , 

whi c h h r conspir cy t o cornmi mu rciL· l:: , t h ' CJOVf' l nrnPtll h<t o 

to s t cbli s h th t h We. S n gr ~rn •n L l o commit h· o ff t•nnf' 

of murd r , nd h th f nd nt pal iciµd ed l T1 t !irt l 

conspir cy knowingly n vol un tarily, and J ; , h mu r t •t1c1 r, 

comrni ted in connection vii h the r c k u .: ring nti:::rpr1s · , 

either s consider tion for mon y or for th 1 f nd nt. Io 

rn int in and increase his posit ion within h t en erpr 1 s , , ind 

also the existence of an enterprise. 

With respect to Count 10, the tempted murder, it is 

basic lly the same elements. You simply substitute the 

conspiracy for the attempt ed murder or iding nd abe ting h 

attempted murder of the victim, Jose h Grajales. 

With respect to Count 18, the 24(c) coun, he 

elements re t hat the d f ndant use d or c rri d a gun in 

connection with th . crime of violence , hat he did so 

knowingly and vo luntarily , and 1 st ly, he offe nse was a crime 

of violence as defin d unde r the s t a u e. 

Tl! E COURT : Thank you , sir. 

Q Mr. Padill , do you understand t h hos re he lemen s 

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805 -03 00 
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l l 

J: t: h -rim "' o ,~,11 i c h y u el l"~ o f 1 C l inq LO ple c cl gu illy? 

A y s . 

Q Doy I und s· nl ·h · you hav h • righ to pl •acl not 

u ilty nd -o h c: v ury ri l o n c1 ·h o[ Lllosr c:hc CJ ~s·1 

A y s . 

Q Do you unders t nd he t lf you do pl d no guilty , tncl <JO 

to ri 1 , th burd n woull be o n Lh CJ JV rrnn 11 l. LO fHCJV f~c \ C h 

of those 1 m nl s b yon 1 r sonc bl d o ubl b or you could 

be 

A 

Q 

found gu'lty? 

Yes . 

Do you underst nd th t t a tri l you wo ul d b pr ,sum~d 

innocent unless and until the gov e rnme nt p ov d your 9ui1 

beyonrl a reasonable doubt? 

A Yes. 

Q Do you unders t a nd that at such trial you woul h v 

right to b e represented by counsel at all s t ages , and , if 

necessary, an at torney would be appointed to represent you? 

A Yes. 

he 

Q Do you unde rstand th tat a tri 1 you would have the right 

to con front and question any witnesses who testify gainst 

you, as we ll as the right not to be for d to incriminate 

yourself, which mea n s you would not have to be a witness 

against yourself? 

A Yes. 

Q Do you underst nd that at a trial y o u would be e ntitl e d to 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (21 2 ) 80 5-0 300 
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- 11 wi.Ln ss , to l:. s t.i f y J n y c u lie 1 f? 

y C1 • 

Q Doy u ind rs - nd t:.ha t if y u µl d u ' l y he r wJ ll 

no tr' a l of ny kin s Lh t you givin~ 111 you i. h t c 

tri a l c n 1 t h n] y r m .in .i n s t p ..,, i l l b f r h di s l: r i c 

judg to n t nc y ou ? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

y 

Do y ou und r t nd h ll d u r of -h c h · rg s wh i ·ll yo u 

r e p ding g1il y ? 

Ye 

Do you a l s o und rs nd the r ng of p an e l i s , in luding 

the maxi mum sent nee to whi c h yo u r pot n li ll y s ubj t J n0 

y ours 1 f by ycmr pl ? 

A Ye s. 

Q Have you and your ttorn y , Ms. ternhe i m, lk bo u 

how the Sent encing Commission Guid e lines ~ a y ppl y to your 

c a se? 

A Ye s . 

Q Do you unde r s t a nd th t the di s t r ict judge wi l l not b e a b l e 

to d e termine the pre cise guide line s fo r your c se un t il fter 

the prcoent e n ce r e por t has b en c ompl e t e d a nd both y o u and t h e 

gove r nm n h ve ha d n oppor tunity t o c ha ll nge the f ac t s 

r por t d by the p r oba tion off i c r? 

A Ye 

Q Do y o u al s o unders tand h a ft e r it h e s b e n d e t ermine d 

SOUTHERN DISTRI CT REPORTERS (21 2 ) 80 - 0300 
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0 11 lq < cl · I 3 

whc t u .i 1 1 in C l J l G t C 'c\S ' h' di0 ti ·t ju lq li.1 s t h 

u t h r:i l y i n [.i ill i r c.: ums l un r-; I i.mpos ( s .n l. I )(' l h ,1 Ls 

ith Ill l ver or 1 BS 8 V }_ l h e n tll 8 n Jlr ( ·c1 l l > [ l." 

by h u .Ld l i 11 ? 

A y 

Q D y u und . s n l · h e: un 1 u m c i · unn · c 11 : u · i · Jw you 

or t h gov r nm n m y h v ·h e d <Jh · ·o ,1pp " 1 ,1ny n 11l e n · 

th i ? 

A y 

Q D you mder 0 t n 1 t ha t o l Ii s n abolif; h l, !JO tl\ , ,1 

i f y u ar s nt n c d o p r i n y I will n t b Ye l • 1c •d n 

pa rol e ? 

A 

Q 

Yes . 

Do you a lso understand t ha t th n w r you 9iv in 

under oath m y be us din th f u ure g i nst you in 

prosecution for p rjury or false st te me n if you do no t e ll 

me the ·tr u t h? 

A 

Q 

Yes . 

Understanding all of thc t , do you stil l wi h to pl ad 

guilty? 

A 

Q 

Yes . 

Am I correct t hat you r willingness to pl ead guilty i s i n 

part the r s ul of ]iscus ions tha t you or you r ttorney h ve 

h d with r p res ntatives of th ov r nme n t? 

l\ y s . 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805 - 0 3 00 
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Q ·1 h ve b f r III u L . t · 1 fo. l A ri l 2 11, 7. 0 00 , o n · h 

1 t t r h c. f t h - Un.i.t 1 S · ,t · l\tL r n y ' s Of fj c,. l\re you 

f rn ili wi t h ·h t 1 t 1? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

y 

Di your vi w Lh · 1 · 

Yes . 

. with Mi ss St rnh im? 

Did both you end s h nig n h r < c- Y m ll · 0 i. nd i C'c t ' 

your unders ndin 

t d y? 

nd ·01 • 11 Lo ·hi s g m n · <-< l. i c,r 

A y s . 

Q Is it your und rst n ing th ti h s 1 o b n si n d by 

two Ass i stant U. S . Attorn y in b eha lf of the V·· rnm nt ? 

A Yes. 

Q Th agreemen t contai ns a f i rly 1 ngthy discussion of how 

t he sentencing guidelines may apply in your c se , is ha 

right? 

A Yes. 

Q Do you understand that the t erms of the pl e agreeme n t 

concerning sen t e nc ing are not binding on the court and t hat 

the cou r t may re j ec t any recommendat i on s or any c lculations 

set fort h in the agre ment without permitting you to wi t hdra w 

your plea of guilty and could t h n i mpose a more sever 

s ntence? 

Yes. A 

Q Do you also understand t hat pursuant to the terms of this 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (21 2 ) 805 - 0300 
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t ment you h c v limit d h c ilcums tc1nces rncl . t wt1i c ll you 

m y , pp 1 fl om c ny se 11 t n c h a . i s imposPd? 

A Yes . 

Q A t fi:o m whal is s L ( 0 1.th i n t h is writ Le n ,c r me n 

whi c h I h V f r m I h e V C ny o lhe t p1. o mi fjes o[ ,1ny sort 

e n med t you 0 in flu •n c y o u ·o pl ear gui l y C l > m 

t od y? 

A no. 

Q Have ny promis s b n Ill cl to yo u ·on<.:, n i I CJ ·h .. H ! ll ll C 

you will r C ive? 

A No . 

Q Ha ve a ny threats b een m d e to you b y anyone Lo intlu l C 

you to plead guilty today? 

A No. 

Q I s your pl ea voluntary a nd made of your own free will ? 

A Yes . 

Q Did you in f act commi t t h e cr imes charge d in Counts 3 , 5 , 

10 , 11 and 18 of the s uperseding indictment? 

A Yes . 

Q Le t's take it one count at a time. First , with respect to 

Cow1t 3 , 111hich c harges a con s p iracy to murder ,Juan Rios, also 

kno wn as Amarito , can you t e ll me what you did that makes you 

guilty of this crime . 

A Me a nd others unknown 

Q Talk littl e l oud r so I can h ar you. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805 - 0 300 
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A M II I o t.:h l '" fJ Ull k ll Wll . () t. h - C:Oll r· L p l o t t d c\ consp i 1·c c·y 

t inu r 1 r Ju n RL Ofl. 

0 w e t h o th . p oµl - -l 1 cl9 L som, o[ t h in the r you 

pl d wit h , p r 0 ll 1, nizc Li o n known elf' Cc1c:0 1 s B ya? 

A y 8. 

Q Di Cc O I 8 B yu nc. 9 in clC vi L '-'8 in he 8 O ll X , ,uno nq 

t h - r locc tion ? 

A y s. 

Q W s p rt of ·he pu pod f:o 1-,h i. ·ll C,H' ' u B yr; 'X i.r;t N l to 

decl in creek CCC i n ? 

A y s . 

Q Was Mr . Rios in f ct k ill cJ? 

A Yes, he was s hot nd di s me mber d. 

Q And you particip t d in ha t crim ' is h correc ? 

A Yes. 

Q Cl e r ly, a t the time th t you were doing th t you 

unders tood that wha t you were doing was wrong, right? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Where wa s Mr . Re Mr . Rios at the time that he was s hot and 

disme mbe red? 

A 

Q 

A 

Bronx. 

I n the Bronx? 

Yes. 

THE COURT: What is t he gov rnment ' s contention with 

respect t o whe ther t hir w don for pecuni ry v lue or to 

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 8 0 5-0300 
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17 

m i n 1n e nd i n r s t h 1os L ion of t h d fond ,in in hi s 

o gani z ·in? 

MR. 'APERS : Fo Lh 1 , ;Judge. 

Q M . P ill he Lim th you did hi , or cl i n 

hi s crim , di y u o t l at i n n ef o to m int in II(! 

increa your pos i ion in th t or9 n · z iou known c.lf.J 'i co ' a 

Boys? 

A Yes . 

THE COURT: I s t here any h ing furLh r Lh 

believe n eed s to be ask d wit h r s p Jc to he c im , 

Coun t 3 , Mr. Capers? 

you 

MR . CAPERS : Your Honor , I think the dat th 

ha ppe ned , on or abou t July 17 , 1994. 

thin 

Q I s that correct , sir , that that is approximately wh n 

Mr. Rios wa s shot and disme mbered ? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

July , y es . 

July of 1994? 

Yes. 

In Count 5 , you were charge d <tt i th conspiracy to murder a 

second Mr. Rios , also known as Chatto . Can you tell me what 

you did t hat ma ke s you gu il t y of t hat cr ime . 

A 

Q 

A 

I a greed with o thers 

I have two p roble ms. One , I can ' t hear you . 

MS . STERNHEIM: I will he lp , your Honor. 

Me a n d o thers agreed to have Chatto kill ed. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (21 2 ) 8 05 - 0300 
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18 

0 We"' Chatt in [at ki l l _ l? 

I\ No. 

MR. .AP Erm: For th recor , you!'.' H n ot, t h 

l t nda1r s nl o ·h rs conspir d o kill Cha Lo. Thy hi 1 C 

hit man t o it. Th h i TTk ll oho and kill cl h wrong 

p - s n n th t person ' s n ,n i. s J o , II nc nd z. 

Q So if I unders t nd what you a s yin , you ,1 r cl w i l h 

ot he rs to h ve Ch t ·o kill d, i. s t hat ig lt L 7 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Do you re with t h gov nm nt t h 

rr nged to h v somebody l s do th t? 

Yes . 

you , nd t h 

The person who was hir din fa ct kill ed sorn body e l s , is 

th t correct? 

A Yes . 

Q At the time that you and t he others ~gre d to have Ch tto 

killed, was that in connection with the operation o f Caco ' s 

Boys? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Did you reach t hi s agreement to kill or have Chatto killed 

ln or around July of 1994? 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

Where were you when you and th ot hers arra ng ed to have 

Chatto kil l e d? 

A I was in the car. 

SOUTH ERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 80 - 0300 
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l\ 

4 kp c l 

Bu t i.n wlwL borough? 

In h Bronx . 

10 

Q Did yo 1 m k thos arrangem nl. s t leas · in ar Io 1 

maintain o . in r ease your o wn posi.tion i n ·· co ' s Boys? 

A y s . 

THE OURT: With r sp C o th cti.m 

Count 5 , Mr. C pers, re h r e further qu s · iono you b 1 i •v 

are requir d? 

MR. APERS: N, Judg I t h ink h cov; s it. 

Q Turning to Count 10 , which c h rges you wi h th 

substantive crime of the attempted murder of Joseph Gr j 1 s , 

also known as Macho , can you tell 111 wh t you did , si , th 

makes you guilty of that cri me . 

A 

Q 

Me a nd others con spired to have Macho shot. 

When you reached that agreement with other people , wher 

were you located? 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

Excuse me. 

Where were you whe n you reached that agreement? 

In the Bronx. 

Did you reach that agreement in or around November of 

1994? 

A Yes. 

Q Did you do that as par of the operation of n 

organiza tion kno wn as Caco ' s Boys? 

A Yes. 

SO UTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS ( 2 12 ) 805-030 0 
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Q D:il y u l o L.ha fu1 IH• pu q oE;> o( 111,lint,ini11<J crncl 

i.n -r · < i n g y u1· wn p o:i Li o n in h c.1 <J,111l7.cl icn? 

/\ y G. 

Q Wi 11 1. •up c Lo ld !:l coun d l1cl c 11 L Lh ' J r 1 i · c un r;, 

y l und rs Lood 11 t wl1t. y u W(-'r cl o j n<J v/cl fJ w1 o nrJ, i r; t. llrl 

rr · ? 

A y s. 

THE COURT: Are h 

governm n beli ves s hould b 

f u ·h 4 r qu·st i onr; t l k l'. tl1 • 

s ke d wit h t sp ct o ·oun 1 O? 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor , as I h v di scuss d wi h 

d fens e counsel , becaus - this count h ge s n c t mp a h r 

t h n a conspiracy, the def nd nt r a lly needs to llocut 

to what h e. did to att empt to kill the vi c tim, and h is 

prepared to do that. 

Why don 't you t e ll u s about that, sir. 

I knew about the attempt that wao made on him. 

0 

Q 

A 

Q Had you previously di scussed with others the fact that a n 

attempt would be made on this individual ' s lif e? 

A 

Q 

Yes , I was present whe n the attempt was made on his life. 

What did you do with respect to th t attempt? Did you 

play any role in it other than knowing that it was going to 

happen? 

A 

Q 

Yes . I told him to do it. 

Wh en you are talking abou t him, is that om body who t hen 

attempt ed to kill Macho? 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (21 2 ) 805 - 030 0 
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1•: XC' ll fl • m ' , 

0 WIH1 11 yo u u~y I Lold lti111 Lo do it, in ltf' pez non you< r' 

,1JkinJ 1bo uL n in bocly 1/1110 l.11 •n , t r>mp cl to kill som<>hody 

I\ y s . 

Q 

l\ 

Wh 11 you o l d h i m 

y 

<.lo l a , 1//tH you .in thu B1·onx 't' 

THE COURT: /\.ny hj ng Ul. hf' l.. 1/11 L h reopec t.o LI C • 

count, Mt . Cc, pers? 

MR. CAPERS: Your llonor , I hink l. h, 

s uf Eici. nt f ·t u 1 b s i s. I would j us poin ou h L h 

gov r nm I t ' s e vid nee at t ri l would b h he d en n · 

a long with thP coconspirator were bo th s hooing t h vie im. 

They were s hooting at him from t he roof of a building nd i 

wa s connec ted to a riva l ry bet ween thi s organ iz tion and 

rival compet ing drug organiz tion . 

Q If I haven ' t asked you already with respect to Count 10 

and the attemp ted murder of Joseph Graja l es , did you instruc 

somebody e lse t o s hoot him i n pa rt to either m intain o r 

increas e your position i n the organization known as Caco ' s 

Boys? 

A Ye s. 

Q Moving on t o Count 11 , whi ch c h rges you wi h conspiring 

with others to mu r der J ohn S ntos , a lso known s Teardrop, c n 

you tell me what you did that makes you gu i lty of th t crime? 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS ( 212 ) 805-0 300 
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A M nd th rs ons i i 1 d ki.lLT•cr 1o r . I cc Lu , lly 

pull d · l - trigg _. 

Q Di yo l s y II _[ C ·tu lly ull d t h rigg If ? 

A y 

Q Wh e was Te d op s ho ? 

A In the Bronx. 

Q Did you nd he otl s C 9 e lo l 1a in o und 

Febru ry of 199 5? 

A y s . 

Q When you reached that agreemen , wa s th lso i n h 

Bronx? 

A y . 

Q Clearly you understood that conspiring to kill somebody 

and ac tually attempting to kill him was wrong, correc? 

A Yes. 

Q Did you engage in the ctivities you ' just told me bout in 

February of 1995 for t h e purpose of either m intaining or 

increasing your position in an organization known as Caco ' s 

Boys? 

A Yes. 

THE COURT: With spect to this ount , Mr. Capers, 

are any questions required? 

rvffi . CAPERS: No, ~Tudge . 

Q Finally, Count 18 charges that during the crime c harged in 

Count 11 you used a firearm. You told me that you s hot John 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805-0300 
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l1 in f t kill l ? 

Wh t typ of w poi 

I c n ' t r c 11. 

w sit handgun ? 

id yo 1 use? 

Yes , it w s ban gun , y s . 

2 3 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

You told me earli e r he wa s s ho in h e Bronx , cor ec 7 

Yes . 

THE COURT: With r e sp ct to a unt 18 , r t h r 

f urt her question s you beli v are require d , Mr . Ca pers? 

MR . CAPERS: No , Judge . 

THE COURT: Mr. Capers , do you know of a ny reason why 

this d e f e nda nt should not plead guilty? 

MR. CAPERS: None at al l, Judge. 

THE COURT: How about you, Miss S t ernhe im? 

MS . STERNHEIM: No . 

THE COURT: Havi ng heard fro m the defendant , 

Mr. Padilla , I am sa ti sfied tha t he understands the nat u re of 

the c harges against him and t h e conseque nce of his pleas of 

guilty to the various coun ts that h e has pled guilty to. I a m 

also satisf i ed that hi s plea is made vo luntarily and knowingly 

a nd t h a t t here is an a dequat fact ua l basis for his plea , and 

on that basis I wil l recommend to the assign ed district 

SOUTHERN DI STRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805 - 0 300 
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jud ht i s J1dg Chin ? 

M . TERN l !EIM: Yes . 

MR. CAPERS : Y s , Judg 

T IIE OURT: t h t thi s d fend n ' s p E c, ull y 

b cce pte d. Has Jud e 'h i n s - c s n t ncing cl te? 

MR. !\PERS : I! h s n ' t , Judg e , but I will cont c c 

h i m, g et s nt e ncing d t ~, nd 1 t d f n s ·oun s l know . 

THE COURT: Simply , I c n' - i 1n 1 11 ·he i would, 

but so th t t hi s s doesn't s lip t h r ugh er c k s , w L ll 

set July 24 , at 4:00 p.m., bf r J ud 'hin s h e sen t n c i.n J 

d t e and time , subject of cours to h is fixing he c u 1 d t 

of sent e nce. 

I assume the defendant will c ontinue o ber m n e . 

MR. CAPERS: Yes , Judge . The r are ctu lly two 

other issues that we can cover for t h e record , Judge . 

THE COURT: Sure. 

MR. CAPERS: For th re c ord , you dvi sed t h e 

defendant that he was giving up cert in r ights with respect to 

h is appeal . If you could specific lly advis e him that h e i s 

waiving any right to appeal ny sent ence of 45 years or l ess , 

I would apprec iate it. 

Q Earlier I indicte d to you, Mr. Padilla, that thi s April 

24 , 2000 , letter agreement between your attor ney and the 

government restricted a nd limit e d your right to appeal a ny 

s ntence that wa s imposed. Do you reca ll that, sir? 

OUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS ( 212 ) 805 - 0300 
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A Yes. 

Q More s p c ifi crilly, do yo 1 und r s nci h e i h s nL nee 

imposed by Judge Chi n i s ti years 0 1 ] ss , yo 1 wi ll no b 

ble o c ppea l the 1 ngth of yours nt n e? 

A Yes . 

THE COURT: And th se cond ma Lt e r? 

MR. CAPERS : The second matter my hav been cov 

by the court. Essentially , if you could simply dvise 

defendant that he ha · the right not to ple 

know if you covered that or not. 

guil y. I don' 

THE COURT : I think I did , but just so the re ·or is 

clear. 

Q Sir , you understand that you have the right not to pl d 

guilty to these charges and to have a jury trial, do you not? 

A 

Q 

A 

Yes. 

You do understand that? 

Yes. 

MR. CAPERS: Thank you, Judge. 

THE COURT: Anything further from ith r couns l? 

MS. STERNHEIM: No, your Honor , just t hat the papers 

to probation include Lhdt:. I wuuld like tu ue µres nL at 11 

intervi ew. 

THE COURT: I will note that. 

MR. CAPERS: Thank you, Judge. 

(Proceedings ad j ourned ) 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (21 2 ) aor:i - 0 00 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
-------------------------- ---x 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

V . 

ELADIO PADILLA, 

Defendant. 

-------------- - --------------x 

Before: 

HON. DENNY CHIN, 

APPEARANCES 

MARY JO WHITE 
United States Attorney for the 
Southern District of New York 

BENNETT CAPERS, 
Assistant United States Attorney 

BOBBI C. STERNHEIM, ESQ., 
Attorney for Defendant 
666 Third Avenue 
New York, New York 

97 Cr. 809 (DC) 

August 17, 2000 
4:00 p.m. 

District Judge 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS {?. 7 ?. ) Rn~ - n~nn 
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THE CLERK: United States of America versus Eladia 

Padilla. 

MR. CAPERS: Bennett Capers for the government. 

Seated with me at counsel table is the case officer, 

Detective Robert Addolorato. 

Also, Judge, just to alert you that there are a 

couple of other family members that viewed the victims in the 

courtroom who may wish to address you later. 

THE COURT: All right. 

Mr. Padilla, would you please rise. 

Mr. Padilla, you pled guilty on April 24, 2000 before 

Magistrate Judge Maas to four counts of violent crimes in aid 

of racketeering and one count of use of firearms during a 

crime of violence. You are here to be sentenced this 

afternoon for those crimes. 

Have you reviewed the presentence report and 

discussed it with your attorney? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Ms. Sternheim, have you reviewed the 

presentence report and discussed it with your client? 

MS. STERNHEIM: Yes, I have. 

THE COURT: The addendum, which is dated August 10, 

notes no objections. 

Ms. Sternheim, do you or your client have any 

objections at this time? 
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MS. STERNHEIM: Your Honor, the objections that we 

have are not substantive in that they do not bear on the 

sentence that the court will impose, they are factual 

concerning how many brothers and sisters he has and the nature 

of an operation that he had. But unless the court wishes to 

hear those, they will not have any bearing on sentence. 

THE COURT: I don't need to hear them. That's fine. 

MS. STERNHEIM: Fine. 

THE COURT: Mr. Padilla, you may be seated. 

For the record, first of all, I have read the 

transcripts of the April 24 proceedings before Magistrate 

Judge Maas and I accept his recommendation that the pleas of 

guilty to the counts in question be accepted and the pleas are 

hereby accepted. 

I have received from Ms. Sternheim under cover of 

letter dated August 16 two letters which I have read. 

In addition I have received a l etter dated August 4, 

2000 from Edye Serano, I received another two-page letter 

which is not signed which is from one of the parents of John 

Santos. I have read that. 

And in addition I received a document in a folder 

entitled "the open wound, a personal encounter ," which 

contains actually two different statements, and I have read 

them as well. 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor, for clarification , all of 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805 - 0300 
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those statements you referred to are from Ms. Sorano, the 

mother of John Santos. If you remember , that murder was the 

death eligible murder in this case. 

THE COURT: All right. In any event, I have read all 

of them. 

I have reviewed the presentence report. Mr. Capers, 

does the government have any objections to the presentence 

report? 

MR. CAPERS: No, Judge. 

THE COURT: I accept and adopt the factual recitation 

as set forth in the presentence report. 

I accept and adopt the offense level determination of 

43, the criminal history category determination of VI. The 

guidelines range is life. 

As I understand it, the statutory maximum is 45 years 

consisting of ten years on each of Counts 3 , 5, 10 and 11 for 

a total of 40 years or 480 months. In addition , Count 18 

carries a mandatory five year consecutive sentence. 

Accordingly, the total sentence would be 540 months or 45 

years. 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor, I think it is 480 months if 

he serves. 

THE COURT: 480 months on Counts 3, 5, 10 and 11, and 

then an additional 60 months on Count 18. 

Am I missing something? 
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MR. CAPERS: I'm sorry, I guess I misheard. You are 

correct, it's 440 months on the first four counts, then an 

additional --

THE COURT: 480 on the first four counts? 

MR. CAPERS: Yes. 

THE COURT: Yes. And then 60 months -- we need to 

translat e everything into months -- and 60 months on Count 18 

for a total of 540. 

Ms. Sternheim, do you agree with that? 

MS. STERNHEIM: Yes. 

THE COURT: All right. 

Why don't I let any family members who want to make a 

brief statement do that now and then I will let Ms. Sternheim 

and Mr. Padilla go. 

Are there any family members who wish to address the 

court? 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor, first I would like to tell 

you who is here. That might help. 

Marisol Sierra is the wife of Juan Rios, Sr., the 

individual referred to as the .murder victim in Count 3. 

Also with her is her family 

THE COURT: I'm sorry. 

MR. CAPERS: Amiritto. 

Is that Amiritto --

Also her family is with her. And I believe Mercy 

Rios is the family member who plans on speaking first. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805-0300 
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Jose Fernandez. 

If you notice with respect to Count 5, the conspiracy 

to murder Juan Rios, Jr., also known as Chato, even though he 

was the target of that conspiracy, the victim who ended up 

being shot was Jose Hernandez and his niece is present as 

well. 

THE COURT: Shot and murdered? 

MR. CAPERS: Yes. 

THE COURT: Ms. Rios. 

MS. RIOS: Yes. 

THE COURT: If you want, come forward to the 

microphone. 

MS. RIOS: I just want to say that I'm a couple of 

years ago, I was about 14 years old, and I woke up in the 

morning, I woke up in the morning and I had to go to day camp, 

and my father used to take me to day camp every morning, and I 

looked all over the house and he was not there. I didn't know 

what happened. I was only 14 years old. 

After that day I never saw my dad again since then. 

He has missed two graduations , my first graduation from eighth 

grade. I was valedictorian and he was not there to see it. 

Then I went to high school . He didn't see that graduation, 

either. 

Now I'm going to college, I got a scholarship, I'm 
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going to college for free , and my father missed that, too. 

Soon I ' m going to get marrted and have children and my father 

is not going to see that, either. 

I just want to say that even after all that pain and 

anger that I have inside, even after being daddy's little 

girl, I forgive you. And some day in the future , when I ' m 

very successful and I have a good job, I ' m going to send you 

food, I'm going to send you clothes and I'm going to pray for 

you, because that's the way I was raised. 

I could stand here and tell you I hate you , but I 

don ' t. I can stand here and tell you I hope you rot in hell, 

but I don't. I hope you live forever. And I wish you . wou ld 

look at me so that you remember this face. My name is Mercy 

Rios and I'm Mr. Rios' youngest daughter. You don ' t even know 

me , but fortunately I have had a chance to know you. 

Thank you. 

THE COURT: All right. 

Ms: Rivera, did you want to say something? 

(Pause) 

MS. RIVERA: I just want to say that I am happy now 

that the murderer is in jail. He is now in peace now. The 

family does have closure. He has to live the rest of his life 

as a cruel person. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

Ms. Sternheim, I will hear you now . 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805 - 0300 
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MS. STERNHEIM: As the court is well aware, in my 

role as the attorney for Mr. Padilla I am here to represent 

him, but I am very sympathetic and sorry for the loss of the 

family members who are here and I do express that to them. 

Your Honor, Mr. Padilla pled guilty to the counts 

that the court has referred to. By doing so he has accepted 

the responsibility for the crimes for which he will be 

sentenced. 

The sentence is governed by the presentence report in 

this case and the court has correctly stated that the 

statutory maximum is 540 months or 45 years, and I understand 

that that will be the sentence that the court is obligated to 

impose. 

The recommendation of the Probation Department refers 

to the state sentence that Mr. Padilla is serving. I bring to 

the court ' s attention that the state sentence, to my 

knowledge, the acts committed in furtherance of that sentence, 

are part and parcel of the activities of the sentence before 

your Honor. The Probation Department has recommended that the 

court impose this sentence concurrently with the state 

sentence. 

I urge the court to do so as well and I ask the court 

to impose a sentence concurrently back to the date of the 

arrest of Mr . Padilla on that state case because of its 

inextricably intertwined nature with this case. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212 ) 805-0300 



089a

0bhypadc 9 

1 Other than that, I believe that there are no other 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

issues other than it would be my suggestion to the court that 

the court recommend that Mr. Padilla be enrolled in a 

substance abuse program while in prison, and in light of his 

family situation, some of which is revealed in the letters 

that were submitted to the court, the court is aware that his 

family members, his sisters and his mother, have been present 

each and every time Mr. Padilla has been present. 

I would ask the court to recommend that Mr. Padilla 

be designated in a facility so thijt his family can visit with 

him, so I a m requesting that he be designated in a facility 

close to New York. 

THE COURT: All right. Thank you. 

MS. STERNHEIM: Thing you. 

THE COURT: Mr. Padilla, is there anything you want 

to say in your own behalf at this time? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT : Mr. Padilla, please rise. 

I have no discretion under the plea agreement and 

under the guidelines calculations in terms of the sentence 

and, accordingly, I will impose it. 

I don't think there is really any need to add 

anything to what the family members of the victims said today. 

It is hereby the judgment and sentence of this court 

that the defendant, Eladio Padilla shall be and hereby is 



090a

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

0bhypadc 10 

sentenced to a term of imprisonment of 45 years or 540 months, 

consisting of ten years each on Counts 3, 5, 10 and 11 

consecutively to each other, and in additional five years on 

Count 18, again, consecutively to the others. 

In addition, I will impose a term of supervised 

release of three years on each count to run concurrently. 

I will impose a fine of $1,000 to be paid in 

accordance with Bureau of Prisons regulations. I understand 

that the presentence report states that Mr. Padilla does not 

have the means to pay a fine, but in the event he works in 

prison the fine to be paid in accordance with the regulations. 

I will also impose the mandatory special assessment 

of $250, consisting of $50 on each count. 

With respect to the period of supervised release, the 

mandatory conditions will apply. The standard conditions 1 

through 13 will apply. The special drug testing condition set 

forth on page 26 will also apply. 

Mr. Padilla is to report to the nearest probation 

office within 72 hours after release from custody, and h e is 

to be supervised by his district of residence. 

With respect to the recommendation that this sentence 

run concurrently with the state sentence, I will not make that 

recommendation. I don't believe it is appropriate. 

With respect to the credit, I will leave that to the 

Bureau of Prisons. I won't make a recommendation one way or 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (21 2 ) 805-0300 
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another. 

I will recommend that the defendant, subject to 

security considerations, be designated to a facility, if 

possible , in the northeastern region of the United States and 

to a facility where he can participate in a substance abuse 

program. 

Are there any open counts, Mr. Capers? 

MR. CAPERS: Yes, there are, Judge. We would ask 

that they be dismissed at this point? 

THE COURT: The motion is granted. 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor, can I have a few moments to 

confer with defense counsel? 

THE COURT: Yes. I wanted to ask you, also, whether 

the plea agreement addresses the right to appeal so I can 

advise the defendant accordingly. 

MR. CAPERS: He has waived his right to appeal the 

sentence. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

Mr. Padilla, as I understand it, you have waived your 

right to appeal. In the event you wish to appeal, however, 

and to the extent that you arguably have a right to appeal, 

you must do so within ten days . If you cannot afford an 

attorney, one will be provided for you without cost. 

Mr. Capers, was there anything else? 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor, I believe that pursuant to 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805-0300 



092a

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

0bhypadc 12 

5G1.3 you do have to decide whether the sentence will be 

concurrent or consecutive or partially concurrent. I don't 

think you can leave that to the discretion of 

THE COURT: I wasn't intending to , I guess. I 

thought I was being asked to recommend it, but I was deciding 

that it should not be concurrent. That would be my 

recommendation. So let me make a decision. 

It is hereby my decision that the sentence is to be 

served consecutively to the state sentence, the pending state 

sentence. 

MR. CAPERS: Thank you for that clarification. 

THE COURT: Anything else? 

MR. CAPERS: No, Judge . 

MS. STERNHEIM: Your Honor, on that issue, just so 

that the record is clear, it has been my understanding, and I 

would ask the court to inquire of the government if it is 

their understanding as well, that the conduct which is the 

basis of the state conviction was part of the enterprise 

conduct with regard to this conviction. 

THE COURT: Mr. Capers. 

MR. CAPERS: Your Honor, as a factual matter, what he 

was charged with and convicted of in the state was part of the 

drug crimes relating to the enterprise. What he pleaded to in 

the federal system was the actual crimes of violence in 

connection with that enterprise. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805 - 0300 
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THE COURT: What I would like to know is whether it 

is a discretionary matter. 

MR. CAPERS : Yes. 

THE COURT: If it is a discretionary matter, then I 

am exercises my discretion so that the sentences are to be run 

consecutively. 

If it is not a discretionary manner, of course, I 

will abide by what the law provides. 

MR. CAPERS: Under subsection C of 5Gl.3, it is in 

your discretion. 

THE COURT: Ms. Sternheim, do you disagree with that? 

MS. STERNHEIM: Your Honor, I believe that there are 

aspects of consecutive/concurrent sentencing that are purely 

discretionary. For instance, if an individual is serving a 

state sentence, the courts can decide whether to make the 

undischarged portion concurrent or consecutive whether or not 

there is a relationship to the present crime of conviction. 

It is my understanding that when there is a 

relationship, as tnere is here, that it is a legal question as 

to whether by pleading guilty in full satisfaction of this 

indictment, although structured as it has been, the court can 

ignore the fact that the sentence being served for conduct 

occurring in the midst of this case, this case going back to 

the early 90s and the state sentence being in the mid -9 0s, I 

believe that it is a legal issue for the court to determine. 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS (212) 805-0300 
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offered its findings with regard to that and it has stated 

that because of the relationship the court should impose a 

concurrent term of imprisonment to the undischarged period of 

time for the state case. 

MR . CAPERS: Your Honor, if I may, I am looking at 

the third full paragraph on page 25. 

THE COURT: Yes. I was just looking at the same 

thing. 

MR. CAPERS: They are referencing the subsection C 

which makes it discretionary. 

THE COURT: The way I read this paragraph is that 

this is the Probation Department's recommendation . The 

paragraph is not saying as a matte r of law I am required to 

impose the sentences concurrently, and in looking at 5Gl . 3C, 

that section says the sentence may be imposed to run 

concurrently, partially concurrently or consecutively. 

So the way I read this is that it is a discretionary 

matter and so my decision stands. 

Anything else? 

MS. STERNHEIM: Nothing further. 

THE COURT: Mr. Padilla, good luck to you. 
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AO 245B (8/96) Judgment in a Criminal Case 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT~:· ·;-~- J- _cr; 
Southern District of New York <±:>- ...... ·,-r _,) 1.p 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
V. 

JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE 
(For Offenses Committed On or After November 1, 1987) 

Eladio Padilla Case Number: S3 97 CR 00809-00l(DC) 

Bobbi Stemheim 
Defendant's Attorney 

THE DEFENDANT: 

X pleaded guilty to count(s) _3,_5_, l_0_, l_l _an_d _l8 ____ --=Ua.....:O:a....C-'-'--'t\.;._·. __ t._l_t._D_~ -~--.. -l·'-+--v_o__,/,___._l ...... 9--=t'-l',2'---
pleaded nolo contendere to count(s) -----,A,..._· _ _,,.Jt-t1U'ti'D __ 1<1t<GM .... · ·_EN ___ J_-Prt:y--1-L-. /....--/-l-.fL1)_ 
which was accepted by the court. 3 7:J 

D was found guilty on count(s) Ot.J .. --------------------------------after a plea of not guilty. 

Title & Section 
18 u.s.c. 1959 
18 U.S.C. 1959 
18 u.s.c. 1959 
18 U.S.C. 924 

Nature of Offense 
Violent Crimes in Aid of Racketeering Activity 
Violent Crimes in Aid of Racketeering Activity 
Violent Crimes in Aid of Racketeering Activity 
Use of a Fireatm During a Crime of Violence 

Date 
Concluded 

07/14/1994 
11/23/1994 
02/26/1995 
02/26/1995 

Count 
Number(s) 

3,5 
10 
11 
18 

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 
the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984. 

7 of this judgment. The sentence is imposed pursuant to ---
The defendant has been found not guilty on count(s) -------------------------

x Count(s) all open counts D is X are dismissed on the motion of the United States. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendant shall notify the United States Attorney for this district within 30 days of any 
change of name, residence, or mailing adchess until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments imposed by this judgment 
are fully paid. 

Defendant' s Soc. Sec. 057-58-4085 

Defendant's Date of Birth _0_7_/2_0_/1-'-9-'-7-'-0 _______ _ 

Defendant's USM No.: _4_0.;...96_8_-..;..05'-4.;..._ ______ _ 

Defendant's Residence Address: 

Undomiciled 

Denny Chin, U.S.D.J. 

Date 
Defendant' s Mailing Address : 

same 
t V1 JCROF J L fVJ 

AUG 3 0 2000 •9QQ AM 
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AG 2458 (8/96) Sheet 2- Jmprisonmcnt 

Judgment - Page 2 --- of 

DEFENDANT: Eladio Padilla 
CASE NUMBER: S3 97 CR 00809-001 (DC) 

IMPRISONMENT 

The defendant is hereby committed to the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a total of 
540 months to be served consecutively to his State sentence, consisting of: 
120 months on each of counts 3, 5, 10 and 11 to be served consecutively, to each other; 
60 months on count 18 to be served consecutively as well. 

x The court makes the following recommendations to the Bureau of Prisons: 
that defendant be designated to a facility in the North East region with a substance abuse program 

x The defendant is remanded to the custody of the United States Marshal. 

D The defendant shall sun-ender to the United States Marshal for this district: 

D at D a.m. D p.m. on - --- ---- -
as notified by the United States Marshal. 

D The defendant shall surrender for service of sentence at the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons: 

D before 2 p.m. on -------------
as notified by the United States Marshal. 

D as notified by the Probation or Prettial Services Office. 

RETURN 

I have executed this judgment as follows: 

Defendant delivered to 

at , with a certified copy of this judgment. --------------

UNlTED ST A TES MARSHAL 

By 
Deputy U.S. Marshal 

7 
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DEFENDANT: Eladio Padilla 
CASE NUMBER: S3 97 CR 00809-00l(DC) 

SUPERVISED RELEASE 

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be on supervised release for a term of 

on each count to run concurrently 

Judgment- Page 3 of 7 

3 years 

The defendant shall report to the probation office in the district to which the clefendant is released within 72 hours ofrelease from 

the custody of the Bureau of Prisons. 

The defendant shall not commit another federal, state or local crime. 

The defendant shall not illegally possess a controlled substance. 

For offenses committed on or after September 13, 1994: 

The deferidant shall refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance. The defendant shall submit to one drug test within 

15 days ofrelease from imprisonment and at least two periodic drug tests thereafter, as directed by the probation officer. · 

0 The above drug testing condition is suspended based on the comt's determination that the defendant poses a low risk of 

future substance abuse. (Check, if applicable.) 

X The defendant shall not possess a frrea1m as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 921. (Check, if applicable.) 

If this judgment imposes a fine or a restitution obligation, it shall be a condition of supervised release that the defendant pay 

any such fine or restitution that remains unpaid at the commencement of the term of supervised release in accordance with the 

Schedule of Payments set forth in the Criminal Monetary Penalties sheet of this judgment. 

The defendant shall comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court (set forth below). The defendant 

shall also comply with the additional conditions on the attached page. 

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 

1) the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the permission of the court or probation officer; 

2) the defendant shall report to the probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete written repo1t within the first five 

days of each month; 

3) the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer; 

4) the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other family responsibilities; 

5) the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation unless excused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or other 

acceptable reasons; 

6) the defendant shall notify the probation officer ten days prior to any change in residence or employment; 

7) the defendant shall refrain from excessive use of alcohol; 

8) the defendant shall not frequent places where controlled substances are illegally sold, used, distributed, or administered; 

9) the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal activity, and shall not associate with any person convicted 

of a felony unless granted pe1mission to do so by the probation officer; 

10) the defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit him or her at any time at home or elsewhere and shall pe1mit confiscation 

of any contraband observed in plain view of the probation officer; 

11) the defendant shall notify the probation officer within seventy-two hours of being anested or questioned by a law enforcement 

officer; 

12) the defendant shall not enter into any agreement to act as an informer or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without 

the permission of the comt; 

13) as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third parties ofrisks that may be occasioned by the defendant's 

criminal record or personal history or characteristics, and shall pe1mit the probation officer to make such notifications and to 

confirm the defendant's compliance with such notification requirement. 
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AO 2458 (6/99) Judgment in a Criminal Case 
·, Sheet 3 - Continued 2 - Supervised Release 

Judgment- Page 4 of __ 7:...--_ 
DEFENDANT: Eladio Padilla 
CASE NUMBER: S3 97 CR 00809-00l(DC) 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS OF SUPERVISION 
The defendant shall participate in a program approved by the Probation Department for substance abuse, which 
program may include testing to determine whether defendant has reverted to the use of drugs or alcohol. The 
defendant shall be required to contribute to the costs of services rendered in an amount to be determined by the 
probation officer based on ability to pay or availability of third-party payment. 

The defendant shall report to the nearest Probation office within 72 hours after release from custody. 

The defendant shall be supervised by the district of residence. 
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Judgment - Page 5 of __ 7 __ 

DEFENDANT: Eladio Padilla 
CASE NUMBER: S3 97 CR 00809-00l(DC) 

CRIMINAL MONETARY PENALTIES 

The defendant shall pay the following total crinunal monetary penalties in accordance with the schedule of payments set forth on 

on Sheet 5, Pait B. 

Assessment 
$ 250.00 

Fine Restitution 
$ 1,000.00 $ 

D If applicable, restitution amount ordered pursuant to plea agreement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 

FINE 

The above fine includes costs of incarceration and/or supervision in the amount of$ $ --------------
The defendant shall pay interest on any fine more than $2,500, unless the fine is paid in full before the fifteenth day after the date 

of judgment, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f). All of the options on Sheet 5, Part B may be subject to penalties for default and 

delinquency pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g). 

x The court has determined that the defendant does not have the ability to pay interest and it is ordered that: 

x The interest requirement is waived. 

D The interest requirement is modified as follows: 

RESTITUTION 

D The determination ofrestitution is deferred until 
Case will be entered after such determination. 

. An Amended Judgment in a Crinunal 

The defendant shall make restitution to the following payees in the amounts listed below. 

If the defendant makes a paitial payment, each payee shall receive an approximately proportional payment unless specified 

otherwise in the priority order or percentage payment column below. 

Name of Payee 

Totals: 

*Total Amount of 
Amount of loss Restitution Ordered 

$ $ ------

Priority Order 
or Percentage 

of Payment 

* Findings for the total amount of losses are required under Chapters 109A, 110, 11 0A, and 113A of Title 18 for offenses committed 

on or after September 13, 1994 but before April 23, 1996. 
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Judgment - Page 6 of 7 

DEFENDANT: Eladio Padilla 
CASE NUMBER: S3 97 CR 00809-00 l(DC) 

SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS 

Payments shall be applied in the following order: (1) assessment; (2) restitution; (3) fine principal; (4) cost of prosecution; 

(5) interest; (6) penalties. 

Payment of the total fine and other criminal monetary penalties shall be due as follows; 

A O In full immediately; or 

B O $ immediately, balance due (in accordance with C, D, or E); or -----------
C O not later than ; or 

D O in installments to commence ___ days after the date of this judgment. In the event the entire amount of criminal 
monetary penalties imposed is not paid prior to the commencement of supervision, the U.S. probation officer shall pursue 
collection of the amount due, and shall request the court to establish a payment schedule if appropriate; or 

E O in (e.g., equal, weekly, monthly, quarterly) installments of$ over a period of 

year( s) to commence days after the date of this judgment. 

The defendant will be credited for all payments previously made toward any criminal monetary penalties imposed. 

Special instructions regarding the payment of criminal monetary penalties: 
The $ 250.00 special assessment ($50.00 on each of counts 3, 5, 10, 11 and 18) shall be paid immediately. The $ 1,000.00 fine shall 
be paid in accordance with BOP regulations. 

O The defendant shall pay the cost of prosecution. 

0 The defendant shall forfeit the defendant's interest in the following property to the United States: 

Unless the court has expressly ordered otherwise in the special instrnctions above, if this judgment imposes a period of 
imprisonment, payment of criminal moneta1y penalties shall be due during the period of imprisonment. All criminal monetary penalty 
payments, except those payments made through the Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, are to be made as 
directed by the comi, the probation officer, or the United States attorney. 
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Judgment - Page 7 of 7 

DEFENDANT: Eladio Padilla 
CASE NUMBER: S3 97 CR 00809-00l(DC) 

STATEMENT OF REASONS 

x The court adopts the factual findings and guideline application in the presentence report. 

OR 
D The comt adopts the factual finding and guideline application in the presentence report except (see attachment, if necessary): 

Guideline Range Determined by the Court: 

Total Offense Level: 

Criminal History Category: 

Imprisonment Range: 

Supervised Release Range: 

Fine Range: $ to $ 

to 

to 

months 
___________ years 

D Fine waived or below the guideline range because of inability to pay. 

Total Amount of Restitution: $ 

D Restitution is not ordered because the complication and prolongation of the sentencing process resulting from the fashioning 

of a restitution order outweighs the need to provide restitution to any victims, pursuant to 18 U .S.C. § 3663( d). 

D For offenses committed on or after September 13, 1994 but before April 23, 1996 that require the total amount ofloss to 

be stated, pursuant to Chapters 109A, 110, ll0A, and 113A of Title 18, restitution is not ordered because the economic 

circumstances of the defendant do not allow for the payment of any amount of a restitution order, and do not allow for the 

payment of any or some portion of a restitution order in the foreseeable future under any reasonable schedule of payments. 

D Partial restitution is ordered for the following reason(s): 

0 The sentence is within the guideline range, that range does not exceed 24 months, and the court finds no reason to depart from 

the sentence called for by the application of the guidelines. 

OR 
0 The sentence is within the guideline range, that range exceeds 24 months, and the sentence is imposed for the following reasons: 

OR 
D The sentence departs from the guideline range: 

D upon motion of the government, as a result of defendant's substantial assistance. 

D for the following specific reason(s): 
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